



A Comparison of Co-stimulatory HVEM Domains in Second Generation CAR-T Cells

Citation

Hennecke, Derek. 2022. A Comparison of Co-stimulatory HVEM Domains in Second Generation CAR-T Cells. Master's thesis, Harvard University Division of Continuing Education.

Permanent link

https://nrs.harvard.edu/URN-3:HUL.INSTREPOS:37373331

Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#LAA

Share Your Story

The Harvard community has made this article openly available. Please share how this access benefits you. <u>Submit a story</u>.

Accessibility

A Comparison of Co-stimulatory HVEM Domains in Second Generation CAR-T Cells

Derek Hennecke

A Thesis in the Field of Biology

for the Degree of Master of Liberal Arts in Extension Studies

Harvard University

November 2022

Copyright 2022 Derek Hennecke

Abstract

Chimeric antigen receptor T cells (CAR-T) are T cells that have been genetically modified to express a receptor that recognizes a specific target molecule. When T cells bind to their target molecule, usually a surface antigen expressed on a tumor cell, they exhibit effector functions similar to T cells, including proliferation, cytokine secretion, and target cell killing. First-generation CAR-T cells contained only a synthetic receptor coupled to the CD35 signaling domain of the T cell receptor complex. Although firstgeneration CAR-T cells functioned well *in vitro*, they were generally unable to kill tumor cells effectively in mouse models. Second-generation CAR-T cells, which contain an intracellular co-stimulatory domain in tandem with the CD3 ζ signaling domain, significantly improved the function of CAR-T cells and are now the basis for several approved therapies targeting lymphomas and leukemias. The choice of a costimulatory molecule (co-stim domain) is critical in ensuring CAR-T persistence and clinical response. As relapse rates in CAR-T recipients are still considerable, identifying new potential co-stim domains may be essential to improve clinical performance. The costimulatory domain of Herpes Virus Entry Mediator (HVEM) is a promising costimulatory domain in CAR-T cell models and might strike a "Goldilocks balance" between performance characteristics of the only co-stim domains in approved CAR-T therapies: CD-28 and 4-IBB. Mutated forms of the HVEM costimulatory domain were created to identify which components are critical to its function by generating HVEM variants with mutations in three key regions of the HVEM cytoplasmic domain (referred

to as M83): deletion of a membrane-proximal α -helix, deletion of a small tail domain, and a point mutation in a potentially critical TRAF signaling domain.

Upon coculture of anti-CD19 CAR-T cells containing modified M83 domains with target cell lines, altered CAR-T activation responses emerged as a function of specific co-stim domain modifications. The loss of the membrane-proximal α -helix severely ablated CAR activation. Mutating the M83 TRAF binding domain reduced the expression of the activation marker relative to wild-type M83 and CAR-T cells without a co-stim domain. Deleting the C-terminal tail domain produced a minimum impact on activation. However, interesting trends in the general responses of CAR-T culture to target cells can potentially indicate a change in the dynamics of TRAF signaling, suggesting increased non-canonical NF- κ B (ncNF κ B) signaling, which could encourage longer persistence of CAR-T cells. Although more work is needed to confirm these observations, this work strongly suggests that using a truncated M83 as the CAR-T costim domain may improve the persistence and efficacy of CAR-T cells. Author's Biographical Sketch

After thirty years in pharmaceutical development, Derek Hennecke returned to school to participate in the exciting field of cell therapy. He has lived and worked in Germany, Canada, The Netherlands, Mexico, Egypt, and The United States.

.

Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my wife, Marcea, who has been a constant support and encouragement as I return to school. We have created a full life together.

My appreciation starts with my friend Shailesh Maingi, whose vision of using HVEM in CAR-T allows me to complete this thesis during a global pandemic. I want to thank Dr. Warren Anderson for his regular and continuous patient hand in the lab over the last year. I do not know how he was so confident that I would get relevant results. I am grateful for Dr. Gail Bishop's early reading and correspondence to catch some glaring errors in my understanding of TRAFs. Lastly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Mike Nicholson, for enthusiastically taking me into his lab and guiding me toward questions about HVEM and CAR-T cell co-stimulation.

Table of Contents

Author's Biographical Sketchv
Dedication vi
List of Tables ix
List of Figuresx
Chapter 1 Introduction1
Background of the Problem1
TNFRs as Co-Stimulatory Domains5
HVEM5
Co-stimulating and Co-inhibitory Effects of HVEM6
HVEM Expression
HVEM Structure
TRAFs12
Role of TRAFs12
TRAF Structure with TNFRs19
TRAF/VEET Amino Acid Binding Sequence
The Length of a TRAF-Binding Site
HVEM Amino Acids After the VEET Binding Site32
4-1BB Does Not Activate TRAF5 While HVEM Does
Chapter 2 Methods
Plasmid Construction

Primary Human T Cell Isolation and Culture.	44
Lentiviral Vector Construction and Virus Preparation	45
T Cell Transduction	45
Processing Samples for Flow Cytometry Analysis	46
Flow Cytometry	46
ELISA	47
Data Processing and Visualization	47
Chapter 3 Results	48
Loss of M83 Helix and TRAF Binding Domain Impacts CAR Expression	48
TRAF Binding Domain and Helix May Impact Activation	50
Change In CD4+ T Cells With M83NT	57
Chapter 4 Discussion	62
Loss of M83 Helix and TRF Binding Domain Impact CAR-T Expression	62
TRAF Binding Domain and Helix Are Needed For Activation	63
IL2	63
CCR7 and CD27	65
CD4+ T Cells Depend on TRAFs	66
CD4+ CAR-T Cells Increase and Slow Activation in Mutants	69
Summary	72
Future Directions	73
References	76
Appendix	94
Definition of Terms	94

List of Tables

Table 1 TNFRs Interact Directly with Members of the TRAF Protein Family	.19
Table 2 Structures of the TRAF Binding Motif of the TRAF Receptor Complexes	.28
Table 3 Hydrogen Donor and Acceptor Atoms on Amino Acid Side Chains	36

List of Figures

Figure 1 HVEM and 4-1BB	
Figure 2 Sequence Conservation of the 60 Amino Acids in M83	
Figure 3 TRAF Similarities.	
Figure 4 Clinical Effect of TRAFs	
Figure 5 TRAF NF-κB Signaling Pathways	
Figure 6 Model for the Activated TRAF–Receptor Complex	
Figure 7 Three-Dimensional Structure of the TRAF2–HVEM Complex.	
Figure 8 TRAF-trimer Configurations	
Figure 9 Seven TRAF Domain Organizations	
Figure 10 Sequence Comparison of TRAF-Binding Regions	
Figure 11 Model of VEET	
Figure 12 Recognition of HVEM / TRAF2.	
Figure 13 Surface Features of the TRAF2-HVEM Electrostatic Potential	
Figure 14 The TRAF3 Binding Regions of $LT\beta R$, CD40 and HVEM	
Figure 15 Ramachandran Plots of CD40 and HVEM	
Figure 16 Relationship of T272 with Hydrogen Acceptors H283 and N282	
Figure 17 HVEM Complexed with TRAF3	
Figure 18 Proline Kink in HVEM	
Figure 19 Example Plasmid Construction	
Figure 20 Transduction Efficiencies Achieved by Lentiviral Transduction	

Figure 21 CD19 Respond to Raji Co-Culture	. 50
Figure 22 Impact of Construct on Activation Markers	. 52
Figure 23 Construct has a Connection with CD69, CD25	. 53
Figure 24 Impact of Construct on Cytokines	. 54
Figure 25 Construct Connection with IL2 and IFN γ	. 55
Figure 26 IL2 Feedback on CD25 Expression	. 56
Figure 27 Impact of Construct on Differentiation Markers	. 57
Figure 28 CD4+ and CD8+ Markers in Constructs	. 58
Figure 29 Activation Markers on CD4+ and CD8+ T cells	. 60
Figure 30 Effect of Tail Loss on M83	. 61
Figure 31 Mechanism of No Tail Construct (M83NT) on NF-KB Pathways	. 73

Chapter 1

Introduction

Background of the Problem

In 2019 there were 23.6 million new cases worldwide and 10 million deaths from cancer (Collaboration, 2022). Although chemotherapy and small-molecule drugs can be effective for some tumor types, there is a clear trend for new treatment modalities. Chimeric Antigen Receptor T cells (CAR-T) are an exciting new cell therapy for treating cancer. The immunologist Zelig Eshhar created the first CAR-T cells in the 1980s using a CAR that combined an antibody component with $CD3\zeta$, a part of the natural T cell receptor (TCR) complex (Gross et al., 1989). Although very scientifically advanced, these 'first-generation CAR-T cells' were clinically unsuccessful and did not persist in patients. Michel Sadelain demonstrated that including a co-stimulatory molecule such as CD28 or 4-1BB in the CAR molecule resulted in CAR-T cells (referred to as "second generation CAR-T cells") with superior function compared to first generation CAR-T cells (Krause et al., 1998). Unlike TCR, which requires interaction with a peptide/MHC complex for synapse formation and cytolytic activity, CARs work in an MHCindependent way. A major mechanism tumor cells use to escape native T-cells is the downregulation of MHC or related components. Thus, the MHC-independent nature of CAR-T cells allows them to bypass the mechanism of immune cell evasion.

Continuing on the success of second-generation CAR-T cells *in vitro*, groundbreaking research in 2003 demonstrated that human CD19-directed CAR-T cells eradicated leukemia cells in mice (Hollyman et al., 2009). Years of research focusing on manufacturing and CAR optimization resulted in Science magazine naming CAR-T cells to treat B-ALL in humans as "Breakthrough of the year" in 2013 (Brentjens et al., 2013). The FDA approved two CAR-T therapies in 2017 for the treatment of the relapsed, refractory precursor B-ALL and diffuse large B cell lymphoma: Yescarta (axicabtagene ciloleucel) and Kymriah (tisagenlecleucel) (Boyiadzis et al., 2018; Brudno & Kochenderfer, 2018; Hopken & Rehm, 2019; Sadelain, 2017). CAR-T cells continue to lead the cell therapy pipeline, with a year-over-year increase of 24% and more than 1400 therapies in the pipeline (Saez-Ibanez et al., 2022).

CAR-T cell function is influenced by ligand-receptor interactions that are costimulatory or co-inhibitory, promoting or inhibiting CAR-T cell responses (Jacoby & Fry, 2020). Co-signaling molecules such as the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor family (TNFR) and members of the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamilies are important in determining T cell activity during an immune response (Locksley et al., 2001). CD28, CD27, 4-1BB, and OX-40 are some essential co-stimulatory molecules that increase the survival, growth and long-term maintenance of antigen-specific T lymphocytes (Bansal-Pakala et al., 2004). However, co-inhibitory molecules such as CTLA-4 and PD-1 slow T cell growth and effector responses (Wherry & Kurachi, 2015).

Autologous CAR-T cell therapy uses CAR-T cells taken from blood from a patient, reprogrammed to express a CAR molecule by genetic engineering, and reinfused into the patient. Treatment with CAR-T cells has shown encouraging results in individuals with B-cell malignancies and, as of August 2022, the FDA had approved six autologous CAR-T therapies to treat lymphomas, some forms of leukemia, and, most recently, multiple myeloma (Frey et al., 2020; Fujiwara et al., 2022; Melenhorst et al., 2022). The significant properties of CAR-T cells that shape the success of therapy are expansion, durability, and tumor cytotoxicity (Chaudhury et al., 2020). CAR molecules generally include an external ligand-binding domain, a transmembrane domain, and intracellular signaling domains. The extracellular ligand-binding domain provides target specificity, while intracellular signaling regions control the activities of CAR-T cells. An added co-stimulatory signaling domain supports CAR-T cell activation. Thus, CARs enable the expressing CAR-T cells to destroy specific tumor cells effectively and hopefully persist long-term to offer continued immune surveillance.

The TCR alone is insufficient to stimulate CAR-T cells to develop into effector and memory T cells(Chen & Flies, 2013; Shahinian et al., 1993). CAR-T cell activation requires a simultaneous co-stimulatory signal, which CD28 provides(van der Stegen et al., 2015). CD28 is part of the immunoglobulin superfamily of co-stimulatory and inhibitory receptors and is expressed in ninety-five percent of human CD4+ T cells and fifty percent of CD8+ T cells(Yamada et al., 1985). CD28's primary role is to enhance TCR signaling to stimulate cytokine production, clonal proliferation, differentiation, and survival (Viola & Lanzavecchia, 1996). CARs also need a second signal, for example, from CD-28 or 4-1BB, to fully activate the T cells. One drawback of a CAR that only activates CAR-T cells via chimeric CD3 ζ is that activation of the signaling motif does not fully activate the genetically altered T cells, impairing antigen-dependent IL-2 generation, cell proliferation, and survival (Schwartz, 1992). Although CARs based on 4-1BB have the potential for long-term persistence, CD28-based CARs have an immediate antitumor effect. CD-28 induces rapid stimulation of CAR-T cells, while 4-IBB acts slower, which appears to help prevent CAR-T cell exhaustion (Huang et al., 2020).

On the other hand, 4-1BB is expressed only in activated CAR-T cells and, when triggered by its ligand (4-1BBL), leads to additional stimulation of the CAR-T cell (Vinay & Kwon, 1998). Preclinical research shows that 4-1BB-containing CARs are less prone than CD28 to CAR-T cell depletion and lead to superior persistence of CAR-T cells in animal models (Sica & Chen, 1999). Third-generation CARs, which incorporate two co-stimulatory domains, add another degree of complexity to the equation and, in some studies, have been demonstrated to be superior to second-generation CD28-based CARs (Chaudhury et al., 2020). Third-generation CAR-T cells proliferated better in patients with MRD+ or a small burden of B cell malignancies at the time of infusion (da Silva et al., 2016; Enblad et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2016).

Utilizing 4-1BB in addition to CD28 can reduce CAR-T cell apoptosis, improve proliferation, and increase the NF-κB pathway (Dai et al., 2020). CAR-T cells combining the signaling domains 4-1BB and CD28 have higher activation and proliferation capacity than CD28 alone (Tang et al., 2016). However, the incidence of cytokine release syndrome (CRS, a potentially deadly side effect of CAR T treatment) varies between trials, with no apparent correlations between whether a CD28 or 4-1BB-containing CAR was administered (Cappell & Kochenderfer, 2021). Preclinical experiments with other co-stimulatory combinations boost CAR-T cells' tumor-killing activity and persistence better than just the combination of CD28 and 4-1BB co-stimulation domains (Guedan et al., 2018) but may result in more significant tonic signaling, contributing to more severe side effects and faster CAR-T cell exhaustion (Weinkove et al., 2019). Also, the rate of CRS sometimes rises, possibly due to the repetitive signal supplied by two co-stimulation domains (Huang et al., 2020).

TNFRs as Co-Stimulatory Domains

Co-stimulatory receptors can be members of the Ig superfamily, such as CD28, or the TNFR superfamily, which includes 4-1BB, CD27, CD30, DR3, GITR, HVEM, OX40, and TNFR2 (Ha et al., 2009). Members of the TNFR superfamily can elicit a wide range of cellular responses after being activated by TNF and cytokine ligands, including proliferation, differentiation, and death. By activating downstream protein kinase cascades and eventually transcription factors in the NF-κB and AP-1 families, most TNFRs enhance cell survival by recruiting the TNFR-associated factor (TRAF) family of intracellular adapter molecules. These adapter molecules activate various genes in response to acute, immunological, and inflammatory phases and tumor development. Unlike CD28, which binds PI3K p85, molecules in the TNFR family do not directly bind protein kinases but transduce signals through TRAF (So et al., 2015).

HVEM

HVEM is a member of the TNFR superfamily that was first discovered as the main target receptor for the Herpes simplex virus to enter host cells (Sedy et al., 2005) and was found to be the same as previously discovered ATAR (Another TRAF-Associated Receptor) (Hsu et al., 1997).

Co-stimulating and Co-inhibitory Effects of HVEM

HVEM is an unusual TNFR as it has both stimulatory and inhibitory effects and at least five different ligands (Cai & Freeman, 2009; Del Rio et al., 2010; Granger & Rickert, 2003; Pasero & Olive, 2013; Sorobetea & Brodsky, 2018). The HVEM network comprises four separate known molecular interactions, making it a highly complicated pathway (Pasero et al., 2012). The stimulatory and inhibitory effects of HVEM depend on its ligands. For example, in numerous inflammatory disease models, the interaction of HVEM with the LIGHT ligand of the TNF family and lymphotoxin alpha (LT α) elicit a co-stimulatory signal, increasing T cell proliferation in vitro and forming effector and memory T cells (Del Rio et al., 2010). HVEM, on the other hand, can send an inhibitory signal to T cells when it binds to BTLA or CD160 (Pasero & Olive, 2013). The interaction between BTLA and HVEM can drive dominant inhibitory signaling over HVEM-mediated stimulatory signaling. The overexpression of BTLA/HVEM on T cells will contribute to T cell exhaustion (Ning et al., 2021; Shui et al., 2011). Tyrosine amino acids in the cytoplasmic region of BTLA are phosphorylated while binding to HVEM (Ritthipichai et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2020).

HVEM Expression

HVEM is broadly expressed in peripheral T and B cells and is present in resting T and B cells (Ning et al., 2021). HVEM expression is more potent in Treg cells than in effector cells, suggesting that Treg cells may mediate suppressor action (Del Rio et al., 2010). HVEM is constitutively expressed in naïve T cells. T cell activation downregulates HVEM and cells re-express HVEM later on effector and memory T cells (Del Rio et al., 2010).



Figure 1 HVEM and 4-1BB

The similarity of HVEM (left) and 4-1BB (right) showing the signal (red), extracellular (green), transmembrane (orange), and cytoplasmic (blue) domains. Alphafold (Jumper et al., 2021) calculated the three-dimensional structure and was colorized with Pymol (DeLano, 2002).

HVEM is structurally similar to 4-1BB in its signal, extracellular, transmembrane, and cytoplasmic domains (Figure 1). Both cytoplasmic domains have an α -helix, a TRAF domain, and a tail. Intracellular domains of TNF receptors can be as short as 36 residues in OX40 and as long as 188 residues in CD30. The cytoplasmic domain of HVEM, called M83 by Inceptor Bio, a company that uses it in its CAR-T platform, falls in the middle of this range at 60 residues. M83 and mouse HVEM share only 25% identity, but both interact with TRAF5 and TRAF2 (Hsu et al., 1997) (Figure 2). Adapter proteins, such as TRAFs, are important signaling intermediates downstream of TNFRs, serving as convergent and divergent platforms for kinase activation, such as I κ B kinases, leading to transcription factor activation, such as NF- κ B (Zarnegar et al., 2008). T cell NF- κ B activation controls tumors *in vivo* and T cell priming requires activation of transcription factors AP-1, NFAT, and NF- κ B downstream of TCR (Barnes et al., 2015).



Probability Weighted Kullback-Leibler M83

Figure 2 Sequence Conservation of the 60 Amino Acids in M83

Seq2Logo (DTU Health Tech, Denmark) calculated the information content of each position with the relative frequencies at each base. A Hobohm identity threshold of 0.63 was applied. The probability-weighted Kullback-Leibler (KL) is a mixture of a regular KL and a Weighted KL (weight on prior is 200), where the height of the amino acids corresponds to their probability times their log-odds score, which is also the information contribution of the amino acid. The weighted KL logo gives an intuitive representation of amino acid enrichment and depletion in receptor-binding motifs. The negative axis reflects depleted (underrepresented) amino acids. Position of the amino acids of all 283 amino acids in the HVEM numbers shown along the x-axis. The α -helix and TRAF (VEET) domains are positioned above the sequence.

There are no discernible hydrophobic interactions in M83. M83 is similar to most

other cytoplasmic TNFR domains with an α -helix, TRAF binding domain, and tail. In

human B cell lymphoma, missense mutations have been found in the cytoplasmic domain of HVEM, including three in the α -helix (G232S (COSMIC), Q242H (ICGC), E256Q (TCGA)) and two in the extended TRAF binding region (V267M (COSMIC) and T272I (COSMIC) (Forbes et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2011).

M83 has only been studied once as a co-stimulatory domain in CAR-T cells, with M83 CAR-T cells producing more pro-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL-2, TNF- α , and IFN- γ) and anti-tumor cytotoxicity compared to control CD28 or 4-1BB CAR-T cells (Nunoya et al., 2019; Su, 2020). Furthermore, equal percentages of T-cell central memory (Tcm) and T-cell central memory (Tem) cells were also found, and CAR-T exhaustion decreased in M83 CAR-T cells (Nunoya et al., 2019). Tem, in contrast, were significantly enriched in the CD28 and Tcm subset enhanced in 4-1BB CAR-T cells compared to M83 CAR-T (Nunoya et al., 2019). Therefore, it appears that M83 CAR-T cells produce a more balanced phenotype CAR-T cells. Interestingly, M83 CAR-T cells *in vitro* showed increased rates of glycolysis and oxidative phosphorylation (Nunoya et al., 2019). Consequently, M83 co-stimulation appears to boost energy metabolism, a trait positively associated with decreased CAR-T cell exhaustion (Bengsch et al., 2016).

TNFRs do not have kinase activity and depend on the binding of adapter proteins to assemble signaling complexes to activate downstream pathways. However, two somewhat conserved cytoplasmic amino acids, S240 (DVVKVIVSVQRKRQE) and N282 (SFTGRSPNH) in HVEM have been found in phosphorylation studies (Bian et al., 2014; Grimsrud et al., 2012; Mertins et al., 2016; Schweppe et al., 2013). S241 is inside the α -helix, and N274 is the second to last amino acid. S241 has a low-frequency level and is not crucial in HVEM binding (Figure 2).

TRAFs

Role of TRAFs

TRAFs are intracellular signaling adapters that link receptor activation events and intracellular signaling proteins. The TRAF proteins have two primary functions: an E3 ligase and scaffolding (Park, 2018; Walsh et al., 2015). The N-terminal RING finger domain of the TRAF protein is responsible for the activity of E3 ligases, while the Cterminal TRAF domain is responsible for scaffolding. TRAF domains also mediate interactions with upstream regulators and downstream effectors (Ha et al., 2009; Inoue et al., 2000; Wajant et al., 2001). Some TRAFs can bind to an activated TNFR and act as scaffold proteins, attracting additional regulatory proteins such as kinases. TRAFs can also restrict proteins in the cytoplasm, not only serving as scaffolds for membrane receptors (Wallis & Bishop, 2018; Wallis et al., 2017). TRAF2 and TRAF3 have been shown to have E3 ligase activity, while TRAF3 typically exerts this activity by recruiting TRAF2 (Yang & Sun, 2015).

Despite the similarities in the signaling pathways induced by the six distinct TRAF proteins, each TRAF appears to have unique physiological functions (Wu, 2007). TRAFs mediate interactions downstream of TNFR superfamily members, Toll-like receptors, T cell receptors, interleukin receptors, NOD-like receptors, RIGI-like receptors, IFN γ receptors, antigen receptors and TGF receptors, among others (Wu, 2007). These pathways are critical in many human disorders because they control inflammation, adaptive and innate immunity, and apoptosis. For various TRAFs, knockout experiments in mice have found effects ranging from embryonic death to

altered immunological function (Foight & Keating, 2016). All TRAFs other than TRAF4 regulate T cell function (Arkee & Bishop, 2020). Figure 3 shows that the amino acid sequences of TRAFs 1, 2, 3, and 5 are very similar.



Figure 3 TRAF Similarities.

(A) Sequence identities across the entire MATH domain. (B) Sequence identities in the core CD40 peptide binding site (Note. Adapted from Foight & Keating, 2016).

In response to TCR signaling, T-*Traf1*–/– mice show hyperproliferation and increased Th2 cytokine production (IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13) but poor responses in effector and memory CD8+ T cells (Arkee & Bishop, 2020). Constitutive activation of the canonical NF- κ B2 pathway in TRAF1–/– T cells leads to hyperproliferation (McPherson et al., 2012). TRAF1 restricts the activation of the ncNF κ B Pathway in antigen-activated CD8+ T cells. Therefore, TRAF1 plays opposite roles in prolonging T lymphocyte survival and restraining T cell proliferation until an appropriate co-stimulatory signal is received (McPherson et al., 2012; Yang & Sun, 2015).

Unlike other family members with the RING domain, TRAF3 lacks independent E3 ubiquitin ligase activity and recruits TRAF2 into heteromultimers for this purpose (Gardam et al., 2008). TRAF3 negative mice (CD4+ $^{Cre}Traf3^{flox/flox}$, hereafter termed T- $Traf3^{-/-}$) show constitutive NF- κ B activation through the ncNF κ B pathway (Yi et al., 2015). T- $Traf3^{-/-}$ mice produce more regulatory T cells (Treg), inadequate T-dependent IgG1 responses, and reduced T cell-mediated immunity to infection due to impaired TCR/CD28 signaling (Arkee & Bishop, 2020).

TRAF3 has various functions in regulating the proportions of different subsets of T cells, although it does not affect the total number of T cells (Arkee & Bishop, 2020). The absence of TRAF3 does not affect the ratio of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, and deletion of TRAF3 from thymocytes does not affect the development and homeostasis of conventional CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Xie et al., 2011). T-*Traf3^{-/-}* mice have fewer CD8+ Tcm cells (Xie et al., 2011). However, Tem cells and naïve T cells are not affected, indicating that TRAF3 plays a unique role in the production, proliferation and maintenance of Tcm cells (Yi et al., 2015).

Compared to normal mice, $T-Traf3^{-/-}$ mice CD8+ Tcm cells undergo apoptosis sooner and do not respond well to IL-15 stimulation. $T-Traf3^{-/-}$ mice have significantly fewer central memory cells than normal mice (Arkee & Bishop, 2020). However, there are no significant variations in the number of Tem or naïve T cells (Yi et al., 2015).

T-Traf3^{-/-} mice have double to triple Treg cell counts in all lymphoid organs compared to normal mice. Furthermore, more Treg cells that develop from the thymus in T-*Traf3^{-/-}* mice increase Treg cells rather than providing a survival or proliferation advantage (Yi, Lin, et al., 2014) T-*Traf3*^{-/-} mice exhibit more Treg cells in all lymphoid organs but fewer invariant natural killer T cells (iNKT) (Arkee & Bishop, 2020). iNKT cells are involved in the pathophysiology of autoimmune and inflammatory illnesses and play a role in antitumor immunity. T-*Traf3*^{-/-} mice have ten times fewer iNKT cells in their spleen, liver, and thymus than normal mice. T-*Traf3*^{-/-} mice had significantly lower proliferation and cytokine production, indicating that TRAF3 is vital in TCR CD28-mediated signaling (Yi et al., 2013).

The ability of TRAF3 to bind to individual TNFR members is receptor-dependent, with HVEM having the strongest interaction and CD40 having the weakest, according to co-expression studies (Hauer et al., 2005). Therefore, since TRAF3 is an inhibitor of TRAF2 5 activation by HVEM of the ncNFκB pathway, removing the last eight amino acids of HVEM could remove the involvement of TRAF3 while only slightly reducing TRAF2 binding and another modulation of the co-stimulatory function of HVEM.

TRAF2 and TRAF5 have functional and structural characteristics similar to those of TRAF3 and TRAF5 and can create mixed heterotrimers when they associate. T-*Traf5*^{-/-} mice B lymphocytes had defective CD40 signaling, reduced proliferation, surface molecule upregulation, and *in vitro* immunoglobulin production (Nakano et al., 1999). TRAF5-/- T cells reduce CD27-mediated costimulatory signaling (Kraus et al., 2008). TRAF5 1, 2, and 3 affect CAR-T viability, proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokines by regulating NF- κ B (Li et al., 2018). TRAF5 interacts with several TNFRs such as CD40 (Ishida et al., 1996), LT β R, CD30, GITR, HVEM, OX40, CD27 and RANK, but does not interact with 4-1BB (Zapata, 2003). Targeting the activity of certain TRAFs could lead to novel techniques to restore normal immune system function (Figure 4).



Figure 4 Clinical Effect of TRAFs

Interaction of various TRAFs and their physiological function (Note. Adapted from Wu, 2007, p. 195).



Figure 5 TRAF NF-*k*B Signaling Pathways

TRAF2 and TRAF5 can activate and inhibit the canonical NF- κ B and ncNF κ B pathways. TRAF3 binds to TRAF2, and given the absence of a RING domain, TRAF1 plays both a stimulatory and a negative regulatory role. Canonical is green (right) and ncNF κ B is blue (left). Ub, ubiquitination.

HVEM, through its TRAF domain, triggers both the canonical NF-κB pathway (RelA/p50, NF-κB1) (Cheung et al., 2009) and the ncNFκB pathway (RelB/p52, NFκB2) (Hauer et al., 2005) similar to 4-1BB (Zapata et al., 2018) (Figure 5) The canonical NF-κB pathway activates NF-κB1 p50, RELA and c-REL, while the ncNFκB pathway activates only p100-sequestered NF-κB members, primarily NF-κB2 p52 and RELB. The ncNFκB pathway leads to a slower activation and is involved in B cell maturation, osteoclast differentiation, and lymphoid organogenesis (Xiu et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2010). Specifically, HVEM can activate ncNFκB signaling to stimulate Th17 cell differentiation (Sakoda et al., 2016).

TRAF3 induces tumor cell apoptosis and acts as a negative regulator of NF-κB activation (Xie, 2013). The TRAF2/cIAP1/2 complex attracts TRAF3 and constitutively binds to the NF-κB inducing kinase (NIK) in the cytoplasm (Xie, 2013). This TRAF2/3/cIAP1/2 complex then works as an E3 ligase adaptor where cIAP1/2 induces constant ubiquitin and proteasomal degradation of NIK and prevents the activation of the ncNF-κB pathway. Upon stimulation of HVEM with its ligand, TRAF2 is recruited to the HVEM receptor domain, causing the cIAP1/2 proteins to ubiquitylate TRAF3 and stimulate its degradation. Subsequent accumulation of NIK in the cytoplasm mediates the activation of the ncNF-κB pathway by starting the process of converting p100 to p52 (Häcker et al., 2011).

Understanding HVEM and TRAF/ NF-κB activation for use in CAR-T cells is vital, as CAR-T cells with 4-1BB require TRAF1, 2, and 3 (Li et al., 2018). To use HVEM as a co-stimulatory domain in CAR-T cells, it is important to understand how HVEM interacts with TRAF/NFKB machinery and how those interactions may differ from 4-1BB. Furthermore, constitutive or chronic activation of CAR-T cells by CARderived 4-1BB signaling can cause toxicity of CAR-T cells by constant activation of TRAF2-mediated NF-κB activation and increased FAS-dependent cell death. Therefore, it will be important to understand whether HVEM signaling results in similar outcomes (Gomes-Silva et al., 2017).

18

TRAF Structure with TNFRs

TRAFs form a mushroom-shaped trimer with a coiled-coil and a unique-sandwich domain after assembling with TNFRs. Each receptor peptide binds symmetrically to the side of the mushroom-shaped TRAF domain trimer and extends along the mushroom cap in the crystal structure of six distinct TRAF–TNFR complexes (Zapata, 2003). Table 1 describes the relationships between key receptors and TRAFs.

Receptor	Interacting TRAF protein
4-1BB	1,2
CD27	2
CD30	1,2,3,5
CD40	1,2,3,5,6
EDAR	1,3
GITR	1,2,3,5
HVEM	1,2,3,5
IL-15R	2
IL-17R	6
LTβR	3,5
OX40	1,2,3,5
p75NTR	2,4,6
RANK	1,2,3,5,6
TACI	2,5,6
TAJ	1,2,3,5
TNF-R2	2

Table 1 TNFRs Interact Directly with Members of the TRAF Protein Family.

Only the nondeath domain containing TNFRs can bind to one or more of the TRAF protein family members. A death domain allows receptors to signal apoptosis (Wajant et al., 2001; Xie et al., 2006).



Figure 6 Model for the Activated TRAF–Receptor Complex (*Note. Adapted from Park, 2018*)

HVEM can bind to numerous members of the TRAF family, including TRAF1, TRAF2, TRAF3, and TRAF5, but not to TRAF6 (Marsters et al., 1997). The amino acid residues on the surface of TRAF involved in receptor interactions are conserved in TRAF1, 2, 3, and 5, which explains why these TRAFs have overlapping specificity for different receptors (Ye et al., 1999). Figure 7 shows a ribbon diagram of the threedimensional structure of the TRAF2–HVEM complex.



Figure 7 Three-Dimensional Structure of the TRAF2–HVEM Complex.

TRAF2-HVEM using CD40's PDB entry 1QSC as a basis in PyMol (DeLano, 2002). (A) View along the trimer axis from below with the coiled-coil in the front. (B) Side view of TRAF2-HVEM binding sites with vertical trimer axis. The helix $\alpha 2$ is on the underside of the C domain and the C-terminus is on the top. TRAF2 forms a trimer (blue, yellow, and green ribbons), and HVEM peptides (space-filling; atom colors) bind to the rim of the three TRAF2 monomers. The sequences of the TRAF-N domain form a parallel coiledcoil, followed by the MATH domain, which adopts a unique β -sandwich. The HVEM peptides are ≈ 38 Å from the trimer axis and ≈ 54 Å from each other. The side chains of the conserved T/L/I motif that recruits NF- κ B (Song et al., 1997) are colored orange.

The cytoplasmic domain of TNFR is in contact with a complementary groove on the rim of each TRAF monomer (McWhirter et al., 1999). Different TRAF trimers can compete to dock at the ligand-activated TNFR trimer, potentially resulting in TRAF trimers with different configurations held by nearby TNFR trimers in the same cell. Furthermore, other members of the TRAF family can form heterotrimers (Zapata et al., 2018) (Figure 8).



Figure 8 TRAF-trimer Configurations

(A) Different TRAF-trimer configurations might be recruited to active TRAF trimers. TRAF2-RING finger dimers are generated between the RING finger domains of two TRAF2 molecules from adjacent trimers. (B) CD-137-recruited TRAF trimers form a hexagonal network stabilized by RING finger domain dimers that form between adjacent trimer TRAF molecules or between the RING finger domains of contiguous cIAP1/2 molecules. cIAPs are critical arbiters of cell death and critical mediators of inflammation and innate immunity (Note. Adapted from Zapata et al., 2018).

The TRAF2 of the TNFRs plays a central role and complexes with several of the other TRAF2. At the C-terminus of the protein, TRAF2 has a coiled-coil followed by seven-eight antiparallel sheets, producing a coiled-coil and a Meprin and MATH homology domain at the top (Zotti et al., 2017). All TNFR receptor peptides bind to the mushroom-shaped MATH domain, which extends from the top to the bottom of the mushroom cap. In the active signaling complex, the directionality of the bound receptor peptides relative to the MATH domain brings the mushroom cap of the MATH domain trimer close to the membrane. Moving the MATH domain closer to the membrane allows the RING finger and zinc finger domains of the TRAF proteins, which are aminoterminal to the coiled-coil domain, to be exposed to the cytosol for interaction with downstream effector molecules (Zotti et al., 2017). The MATH domain binds to short linear motifs in the cytoplasmic tails of receptors. These connections are not strong and have only tens to hundreds of micromolar dissociation constants (Foight & Keating, 2016). To date, seven TRAFS have been discovered (Zotti et al., 2017). All except TRAF1 contain a RING finger domain localized at their amino terminus, followed by one or more zinc finger domains. TRAF7 does not interact with any TNFR and does not have a MATH domain(Zotti et al., 2017) (Figure 9).



Figure 9 Seven TRAF Domain Organizations

(Note. From Zotti et al., 2017).
TRAF/VEET Amino Acid Binding Sequence

TRAF 1/2/3/5

HVEM	266-275	т	v	A	v	E	E	т	I	P	s
TNFR2	422-431	P	F	s	ĸ	Е	E	с	A	F	R
CD30	576-585	м	L	s	v	E	E	E	G	ĸ	E
4-1BB	232-241	v	Q	т	т	Q	E	E	D	G	с
4-1BB	244-253	R	F	P	Е	Е	E	E	G	G	с
CD30	559-568	H	Y	P	Е	Q	E	T	E	P	P
CD27	244-253	т	I	P	I	Q	E	D	Y	R	ĸ
CD40	248-257	A	A	P	v	Q	E	T	L	H	G
LMP1	204-213	R	т	P	v	Q	E	s	G	Y	D
LMP1	243-252	н	P	P	v	Q	E	т	G	G	G
LMP1	315-324	н	P	P	v	Q	E	т	G	E	G
LMP1	359-368	н	P	P	I	Q	E	т	G	N	G
OX40	260-269	R	т	P	I	Q	E	E	Q	A	D
RANK	566-575	G	R	P	v	Q	E	E	т	L	A
RANK	604-613	s	R	P	v	Q	E	Q	G	G	A
TACI	238-247	R	A	P	т	Q	E	s	A	v	т
XEDAR	247-456	G	F	P	т	Q	E	s	F	т	v
RELT	354-363	R	I	P	E	Q	R	т	s	s	м
TROY	449-458	A	v	P	v	Q	s	н	s	Е	N
TANK	178-187	s	v	P	I	Q	С	T	D	ĸ	т
LTbR	387-396	P	I	P	Е	E	G	D	P	G	P

Figure 10 Sequence Comparison of TRAF-Binding Regions

The sequence comparison of the TRAF-binding regions of several TNFRs shows the minimal consensus motifs for TRAF1,2,3, and 5 (Note. From Zapata, 2003).

Some conserved structural contacts preserve TRAF-binding sequences from different receptors (Figure 10). The general sequence motif for TRAF binding is (P/S/A/T)-X-(Q/E)-E (Ye et al., 1999). In CD27, the TRAF binding site is 246PIQED250 (Akiba et al., 1998; Yamamoto et al., 1998). OX40 has a TRAF binding site at 261TPIQEEQAD269 (Arch & Thompson, 1998). Several TNFRs have more than one TRAF binding site. 4-1BB has a TRAF binding site at 236QEED239 and 247EEEE250 (Arch & Thompson, 1998; Jang et al., 1998). CD30 has TRAF binding sites, 558PHYPEQET565 and 576MLSVEEEGKED586 (Gedrich et al., 1996). Additionally, GITR has two binding sites, 211STED214 and 221PEEE224 (Esparza & Arch, 2005; Kwon et al., 1999). HVEM follows this pattern with a TRAF binding site of 264VTTVAVEET272 (Hsu et al., 1997) (Figure 11). Different TRAFs can compete for receptor binding motifs, which agrees with the observation that other TRAFs than TRAF2 interact with the cytoplasmic domain of HVEM (McWhirter et al., 1999).



Figure 11 Model of VEET

VEET is displayed in the default PyMol (DeLano, 2002) electron density map. This portion of the cytoplasmic HVEM domain produces an open poly-Pro II helix with no internal hydrogen bonding.



Figure 12 Recognition of HVEM / TRAF2.

The VEET recognition motif of HVEM (in teal) is bound to the three TRAF2 hotspots. Hotspot1 is green, hotspot2 is red, and hotspot3 is orange.

Spot	TRAF 1	TRAF 2	TRAF 3	TRAF 5
1	F325	F410	F475	Y462
	F347	L432	L496	L484
	F362	F447	F512	F499
	F371	F456	F521	F508
	C391	C469	C534	C521
2	S368	S453	S518	S505
	A369	S454	S519	S506
	S370	S455	S520	S507
3	R308	R393	R458	R445
	Y310	Y395	Y460	Y447
	D314	D399	D464	D451

Table 2 Structures of the TRAF Binding Motif of the TRAF Receptor Complexes.

All residues critical for interaction with the VEET motif are well conserved in TRAF1, TRAF3, and TRAF5, except that A replaces an S residue in the S triad in TRAF1 (A369) (Note. From Park, 2018).

Other members of the TNFR family, such as CD30, CD40, Ox40, and TANK, have a typical binding pattern with TRAFs 1,2,3,5 (Park, 2018). TRAFs have three regions, known as binding hot spots, to form tight interactions with their TNFR (Table 2) (Figure 12). Similarly, TRAF2 residues that create hot spot 1 (F410, L432, F447, F456, and C469) could cause van der Waals interactions with V267, A268, and V269 in HVEM. E252 could interact with the residues from the hot spot 2 (S triad, S453, S454, and S455). In HVEM, E270 can only establish one hydrogen bond with the three S residues, but a Q at this position (as seen in many other TNFRs) can form hydrogen bonds with all three. Hot spot 3 formed by residues R393, Y395, and D399 in TRAF2 remains involved in the interaction with E271. The negatively charged E271 creates an ion-pair interaction with the positively charged R393. In hotspot 3, the carboxylate moiety of the E271 residue interacts with the guanidinium group of the side chain of R393. E271 also forms a hydrogen bond with Y395 in TRAF2 through an ion-pair interaction. When combined, the surface characteristics of the TRAF2-HVEM complex show a positive electrostatic potential on the top facing the cell membrane (Figure 13). The trimer polarizes with a positive potential facing the membrane. A negative potential rings the coiled-coil motif.



Figure 13 Surface Features of the TRAF2-HVEM Electrostatic Potential.

The potential (-5 to +5 kt/e) was calculated with APBS electrostatics and displayed in blue (positive), white (neutral), and red (negative). (A) View along the trimer axis looking onto the "top" of the TRAF structure. Large indentations in the molecular profile mark the subunit interfaces. (B) Oblique view of the "underside" of the TRAF2-HVEM complex with the coiled-coil pointing to the bottom right. The position of the HVEM is indicated and is located just below the rim. The positive potential characterizes the sides of the canyons that exit the bowl and the interfaces of the subunits.

The HVEM sequence fits securely at the TRAF2-binding crevice due to the HVEM alternating pattern of large and small side chains in the VEET sequence. The VEET peptide fits into a small solvent pocket in the TRAF2 binding crevice. The overall dimensions of this cave are 17.5 x 7.5 x 8 Å. A sequence alignment based on the receptor peptide structure reveals that the third position of the VEET-like sequence is almost always occupied by an E residue and has a very high degree of sequence conservation (Ye et al., 1999). Although LMP1 has an A in the third position, E occupies this position in the main TRAF binding motif. The carboxylate moiety of the E residue makes a

bidentate ion pair contacts with the side chain guanidinium group of R393 and an extra hydrogen bond with the hydroxyl of Y395 (Ye et al., 1999). Because other residues are too short to reach R393 and Y395 in TRAF2, these hydrogen-bonding interactions require E specifically. LMP1 and TANK have an A and a C, respectively, instead of E at the third position and cannot participate in ion pair and hydrogen bonding interactions. Instead, LMP1 can create new interactions with the R393 and Y395 residues by having an N residue much further down (where the position I273 is in HVEM). The side chain of R393 conforms to connect N to R393.

Although VEET does not contain prolines, the domain forms the shape of a polyproline II helix (PPII) (Adzhubei et al., 2013). PPII is a somewhat twisted strand that allows for a three-turn side-chain periodicity. Protein–peptide interactions, such as recognition of peptides by SH3 domains and class II MHC molecules, often adopt a PPII conformation. The peptide chain can twist in this shape to optimize the interaction of its side chains with a protein surface (Ye et al., 1999). PPII allows for the burying of VEET in a complex with TRAF2 (390Å/603Å=64%).

Most other TNFRs replace A268 in HVEM with a P. P at this position makes extensive van der Waals contacts with TRAF2 and reinforces the PPII conformation. A268 in HVEM and 4-1BB lowers the affinity of the peptides and produces a weaker electron density in the complex. The side chains of the remaining receptor peptide residues are exposed on the surface of the complex, but these residues have little sequence conservation among the TNFRs. The V269 residue appears to be essentially a spacer. In TRAF2, the side chain of the T272 residue is close to D399, and T272 forms hydrogen-bonding interactions with the side chain of D399. Surprisingly, some receptor peptides from other TNFRs include an acidic residue (D or E) at this location, but none have a basic residue (L or R).

The Length of a TRAF-Binding Site

The corresponding residue "G271" in TNF-R2 has five ordered residues at the carboxyl terminus. On the other hand, the CD40 complex has ordered residues five places after its corresponding "G271" at the amino end. These findings imply that a complete TRAF2 binding sequence could have up to 11 residues (5+1+5) to cover the entire span of one MATH domain surface face. The side chain chemistry determines the conformation, and the lengths of the TRAF binding area differ from receptor to receptor. A view of the HVEM/TRAF2 complex in PyMol (DeLano, 2002) suggests that the actual size of HVEM could be VAVEET of six amino acids long.

HVEM Amino Acids After the VEET Binding Site

The removal of the last 15 residues from the C-terminus of the cytoplasmic portion of CD40 completely removed the binding of TRAF3 to CD40 and reduced the binding to TRAF2 (Leo et al., 1999). As a result, CD40 binds to TRAF2 and TRAF3 in different ways to modulate the intensity of the connections. TRAF3 interacts with CD40 and LT β R receptor residues, creating a hairpin essential for TRAF3 contact (Ni et al., 2000) (Figure 14). When CD40 is linked to TRAF3, the two strands that flank the reverse turn of CD40 do not engage in the usual hydrogen bonding in β -hairpins. Instead, hydrogen bonds involving T254 in the consensus sequence PxQxT stabilize the structure. On the next strand, the threonine side chain forms intrapeptide hydrogen connections with the main chains of D265 and E264. This hairpin does not happen in CD40-TRAF2 studies, and CD40's T254 moves to a position to hydrogen bond with TRAF2's D399 instead (Ni et al., 2000).

As with CD40, HVEM's tail can also produce a structurally stable hairpin as shown in Figure 15 by the Ramachandran plot and graphically depicted in Figure 14. A Ramachandran plot helps to analyze protein folding; Phi and Psi values are used to map the allowed structures of transition states and intermediates in the folding, binding, and conformational transitions of proteins (Fersht & Sato, 2004).



Figure 14 The TRAF3 Binding Regions of $LT\beta R$, CD40 and HVEM

The TRAF3 binding crevice is on the right in each image. $LT\beta R$ (left) and CD40 (middle) (Note. From Li et al., 2003). For HVEM (right), the author took the energy minimization and simulated the annealing result in the SWISS-PDB viewer (Biozentrum, Basel) in vacuo utilizing a GROMOS96 energy minimization (Guex & Peitsch, 1997). The resulting pdb file was manipulated using PyMol (DeLano, 2002). The simulation consisted of 30 cycles, which reached 2,000 heating and annealing steps. The steps cycled between a temperature of 300 K / mol and 1000 K / mol. The TRAF3 binding crevice is on the right. As in CD40 and $LT\beta R$, the amino acids after the TRAF3 binding domain in HVEM could reverse course.



Figure 15 Ramachandran Plots of CD40 and HVEM

Ramachandran plots of the tails of CD40 (left) and HVEM (right) after interacting with TRAF3. The plot shows amino acids within acceptable regions of the Phi and Psi angles. The CD40 data are from the cocrystallization of CD40 and TRAF3 (Ni et al., 2000) and show 4 amino acid outliers (phi, psi): A249 (94.2, -157.4); P250 (-109.9, -111.6); L255(158.6, 146.9); S258 (-164.2, -0.3). HVEM is the last 20 homologous annealed amino acids and has three outliers (phi, psi): V249 (92.8, -163.9); I255 (163.7, 137.7); F258 (-164.1, 1.9). Both Pdbs were run through the MolProbity Ramachandran analysis tool from Duke University (Lovell et al., 2003).

Similarly, for CD40 and LT β R, the last eight amino acids of HVEM could also double over VEET when they are bound to TRAF3 (Figure 17). When CD40 links to TRAF3, HVEM's T272 in the PxQxT consensus sequence could stabilize a reversestranded structure. T-272 could form intrapeptide hydrogen connections on the next strand with N282 and H283. However, because P281 does not have a hydrogen in the amino group when in a peptide bond, it cannot give a hydrogen bond to T272 and S280 is too far away to participate (6.4 Å) (Figure 16) and (Table 3).



Figure 16 Relationship of T272 with Hydrogen Acceptors H283 and N282.

Distances in Å.

Amino acids	Hydrogen donor atoms	Hydrogen acceptor atoms
T272	OG1	OG1 (2)
N282	ND2 (2)	OD1 (2)
H283	ND1, NE2	ND1, NE2
S280	OG	OG (2)

Table 3 Hydrogen Donor and Acceptor Atoms on Amino Acid Side Chains

The table shows the number in parentheses of "sp hydrogens" that a donor atom can donate or the number of hydrogen bonds that an acceptor atom can accept. Atoms within 5 Å are colored.



Figure 17 HVEM Complexed with TRAF3.

The spherical atoms show HVEM, and the TRAF3 cartoon is colored green. The VEET residue is colored cyan.

Many proteins require histidine to function correctly (Brosnan & Brosnan, 2020). Because the histidine side chain pKa lies within physiological pH, it can act as both an acid and a basic. It is possible that local pH changes H283 and its impact on the VEET domain.

Because proline is an imino acid with a five-membered ring, rotation around the N-C(alpha) bond is sterically constrained, giving it a Phi value of approximately -63 ± 15 degrees. Proline can disrupt or stabilize regular secondary structural components and cause kinks (Morgan & Rubenstein, 2013). Proline (which has two carbons attached to N) has a smaller energy difference between the cis and trans states than other amino acid

residues (with an H atom and a C atom attached to the peptide N), creating a conformationally relevant peptide(Morgan & Rubenstein, 2013). Pro274 and Pro281 are highly conserved and lie across from each other in the HVEM tail and pull the bottom of the loop away from TRAF 3 domain (roughly an additional 8 Å). The cis and trans conformations of proline peptide bonds are thermodynamically stable (Vitagliano et al., 2001). In HVEM, the two prolines can sit comfortably in either a trans configuration with Phi and Psy angles of (-75, 145) or a cis configuration of (-75, 160). A trans-to-cis isomerization of the two proline peptide bonds is a potential mechanism to move the HVEM tail away from the VEET (Figure 18).



Figure 18 Proline Kink in HVEM

HVEM in cyan, TRAF2 in green, and trans prolines in red.

4-1BB Does Not Activate TRAF5 While HVEM Does.

Interestingly, although HVEM binds the same set of TRAFs as CD30, HVEM signaling in T cells predominantly induces TH1 cell-associated cytokines (Cheung et al., 2009). Therefore, HVEM as a co-stimulatory molecule could provide the following advantages over 4-1BB in a CAR-T system (Arkee & Bishop, 2020).

1. Help CD27-mediated signaling rescue CD8+ CAR-T cells from apoptosis

- 2. Decrease Th2 cell differentiation and decrease non-inflammatory cytokine production
- 3. Decrease IL-6R signaling
- 4. Decrease IL-6-mediated Th17 differentiation
- 5. Increase NF-*k*B1, p38, and ERK activation
- 6. Increase IL-2 production

Chapter 2

Methods

Three DNA constructs were designed using Snapgene 5.3.2 software (Insightful Science) and synthesized by Azenta Life Sciences.

 The 40 amino acids on the N-terminal side that form an α-helix in M83 were removed to test with only a peptide from V264 to H283 (hereafter called M83NH):

a. VTTVAVEETIPSFTGRSPDH

2. M83 which substitutes the second E with A at the TRAF binding site, VEET. Replacement of E for A at position 271 was the only point mutation that abolished the HVEM interaction with the TRAF2 and TRAF 5 proteins (Hsu et al., 1997). This approach of introducing a point mutation of E271A was used again in 2019 to determine whether the loss of HVEM's ability to recruit TRAF2/ 5 affected germinal center B cell participation (Mintz et al., 2019). A is similarly negatively charged as E. This mutant is hereafter called M83E/A:

a. CVKRRKPRGDVVKVIVSVQRKRQEAEGEATVIEALQAPPD VTTVAVEATIPSFTGRSPDH

3. M83 minus the last eight amino acid tail. This construct was named M83NT.

a. CVKRRKPRGDVVKVIVSVQRKRQEAEGEATVIEALQAPPD VTTVAVEETIPS

Plasmid Construction



Figure 19 Example Plasmid Construction



Figure 19 shows an example of the construction of the plasmid for M83E/A. The M83 region of the anti-CD19 CAR-T lentiviral plasmid construct GMCSF.M83.FMC63 (Nunoya et al., 2019) was digested with EcoRV and SalI, and PCR products containing CD3ζ through GFP and one of the three modified M83 constructs were inserted. The plasmid used EF1a-short promoter (EFS) to express an anti-CD19-modM83-CD3ζ CAR. This CAR is separated from an EGFP marker by a P2A ribosomal self-skipping peptide, allowing the fluorescence identification of CAR-expressing cells.

The 5' LTR is a promoter to transcribe the viral genome, and the 3' LTR has a polyadenylation signal to terminate the upstream transcript. A packaging signal, HIV psi, is needed to efficiently package the viral genome in the vector (Kim et al., 2012). The

HIV-1 Rev response element, RRE, allows for Rev-dependent mRNA export from the nucleus to the cytoplasm of viral genomic RNA that has not been spliced and boosts titers. Gp41 is a transmembrane protein required for lentiviral infection of CD4+ T cells (Sakuma et al., 2012). HIV-1's central polypurine tract and central termination sequence, cPPT/CTS, create a "DNA flap" that promotes viral genome nuclear importation during target-cell infection, improving vector integration and transduction efficiency. The eukaryotic translation elongation factor, EF1 α , can be a better promoter than CMV (Wang et al., 2017). When the CAR is expressed inside a T cell, an N-terminal GMCSF signal peptide is added to the ScFv, and the protein product is guided to the endoplasmic reticulum, then to the cell surface and is expressed. FMC63 is the most prevalent ectodomain component of CD19-specific CARs used in immunotherapy B-lineage leukemias. The transmembrane domain, derived from CD8, provides stability to the receptor. The intracellular domain of the CAR-T cell receptor-CD3 ζ chain acts as a stimulatory molecule to activate the immune response mediated by T cells.

Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein, EGFP, is a standard green fluorescent protein with good brightness, photostability, and pH stability to report CAR expression. The post-transcriptional regulatory element of the Woodchuck hepatitis virus (WPRE) is a DNA sequence that enhances expression by forming a tertiary structure when transcribed. WPRE prevents readthrough of the poly(A) site, enhances RNA processing and maturation, and boosts RNA nuclear export. It improves vector packaging and increases titer in genomic transcripts. WPRE increases transgene expression in transduced target cells by promoting mRNA transcript maturation. In viral RNA transcription during packing, the early polyadenylation signal of Simian virus 40, the

43

origin of replication, favors transcriptional termination after the 3' LTR. SV40 improves the viral titer by increasing the amount of functional viral RNA in cell packaging. An ampicillin resistance gene, AmpR, allows the plasmid to be maintained by ampicillin selection in E. coli. Plasmids carrying the Ori origin of replication exist in high copy numbers in E. coli. Various promoters and binding sites, such as the CAP binding site, the Lac promoter/ operator, the M13 rev, and the T3 RNA promoter. These plasmids were assembled following the instructions of NEBuilder HiFi Assembly (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA) and transformed into *E. coli*.

Primary Human T Cell Isolation and Culture.

Total CD3+ T cells were isolated from two deidentified and healthy donors' human peripheral blood obtained from STEMCELL Technologies using negative selection beads (EasySepTM Human T Cell Isolation Kit from STEMCELL Technologies). T cells were cryopreserved in Cryostor CD10 (BioLife Solutions) at 10⁶ cells per ml in 1 ml aliquots. After thawing, T cells were maintained at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ in human T cell medium consisting of RPMI with ATCC Modification (Gibco A1049101) plus 10% heat-inactivated FBS with 10 ng/mL IL-2 (STEMCELL Technologies). T cells were resuspended in human T cell medium without IL-2 immediately prior to all assays. Before coculture with target cells, T cells were thawed and diluted with untransduced/expanded T cells from the same donor, bringing all cultures to 10% CAR+ (except M83E/A cells). For co-culture assays, T cells and target cells were cultured in a medium formulated with ATCC RPMI plus 10% heat-inactivated FBS without IL-2.

Lentiviral Vector Construction and Virus Preparation

Following the manufacturer's instructions, lentivirus was produced using the LV-MAXTM Lentiviral Production System (Thermo Fisher) to produce 13 ml of Lenti Supernatant for each construct. The virion content was purified and measured with the Lenti-XTM qRT-PCR Titration Kit (Takara) and the QuantStudioTM 3 Real-Time PCR System (Thermo Fisher).

T Cell Transduction

T cell activation was carried out using 25 μ l/10⁶ per ml of incomplete media. To activate T cells, 25 μ L/mL of ImmunoCult Human CD3/CD28 T Cell Activator (STEMCELL Technologies) was added to the cell suspension. Cells were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2 for 3 days. The T cells were expanded by taking a viable cell count and adjusting the viable cell density every 2 - 3 days by adding fresh complete ImmunoCult-XF T Cell Expansion Medium (STEMCELL Technologies) to the cell suspension. The cells were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO2 until the desired cell number was obtained.

T cells were transduced with concentrated lentivirus 24 h after activation with CAR-T constructs at various MOIs to produce transduction rates between 5 and 20%. Forty-eight hours after Lentivirus transductions, cell cultures were washed and given fresh media to remove residual virus. Transduced CAR-T cells were then expanded in a human T cell medium at a density of 1-2⁶ cells/ml for ten days. After a 13-day expansion, the transduced CAR-T cell cultures were frozen in CS-10 medium (BioLife Solutions). Anti-CD19 CAR-T plasmid construct (GMCSF.M83. FMC63) containing a complete M83 domain or a first generation CAR-T (GEN 1) containing a single CD3ζ intracellular

domain without additional co-stimulatory domains were used to account for the stimulatory activity of the zeta chain alone, to see where the activity of the new constructs would fall between the GEN1 and the entire M83 construct. A sixth construct containing VRC01 (Control), an scFv against an HIV antigen, served as an irrelevant binder control. CD19-positive Raji lymphoma cells were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection and kept in log phase growth in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS (Thermo Fisher) in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO 2 at 37 °C.

Processing Samples for Flow Cytometry Analysis.

Before coculture with target cells, CAR-T cells were thawed and diluted with untransduced/expanded T cells from the same donor, bringing all cultures to 10% CAR+ (except M83E/A cells). For coculture assays, CAR-T cells and target cells were cultured in a medium formulated with ATCC RPMI plus 10% heat-inactivated FBS without IL-2. Samples were transferred from a cell culture incubator to a biosafety cabinet with the biosafety cabinet lights turned off. All subsequent sample processing was performed with the light within the biosafety cabinet used for processing turned off to prevent fluorophore photobleaching. Before further processing, the samples were transferred to a 96-well round-bottom tissue culture plate (Thermo Fisher).

Flow Cytometry

Staining was performed with DAPI and cells were labeled with fluorescent Abs to CCR7- BV421, CD4+-BV605, CD4+5RO-BV785, surface CAR-PE, CD25-PE-CF594,

CD27-PerCP/Cy5.5, CD69-APC, CD8-APCcy7 (all purchased from BioLegend), and CD3-BUV496 (BD Biosciences). Analyses were performed using a CytoFLEX LX flow cytometer (Beckman Coulter) and analyzed with FlowJo v10.8.1 (BD Biosciences).

ELISA

DuoSet ELISA to measure human IL-2 concentration of supernatants was from R&D Systems and performed as the manufacturer recommended. The concentration of IFNγ in cell culture supernatants was determined with the Human IFNγ DuoSet ELISA kit (R&D Systems), according to the manufacturer's instructions, and measured on a Varioskan LUX with SkanIt Software RE for Microplate Readers RE, ver. 6.1.1.7 (Thermo Fisher).

Data Processing and Visualization

Data processing was performed in R (Team, 2013). The plots were generated using ggplot2 (Wickham et al., 2016).

Chapter 3

Results

Loss of M83 Helix and TRAF Binding Domain Impacts CAR Expression. CAR-T cells containing the three M83 mutations described above were compared with a first-generation CAR-T with only CD3 ζ (GEN1) and a nonbinding control (Control). CD3+ CAR-T cells were isolated, activated, and transduced with lentivirus described above. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that the transduction rates of CAR-T cells with different lentiviral vectors varied by construct, despite a similar multiplicity of infection (Figures 20 and 21).



Figure 20 Transduction Efficiencies Achieved by Lentiviral Transduction.

Representative dot plots of CAR-transduced donor CAR-T cells are shown. Flow cytometry determined transmission efficiencies by measuring GFP expression (x-axis). The numbers in the plots show the percentages of each cell population.



Figure 21 CD19 Respond to Raji Co-Culture

The bar graph shows the percentage of GFP+ transducer cells that are positive for CAR expression of each of the indicated constructs. The control is a non-targeting CAR. The mean and first and third quartiles are represented by the lower and upper hinges, respectively. The whiskers extend a 1.5 * interquartile range from the hinge. Data beyond the whiskers' end are shown separately (n = 16). Example p-values are shown (paired Wilcox).

Surprisingly, the percentage of GFP+ cells also expressing CAR was considerably

lower in CAR-T cells with the M83NH or M83E/A mutation (Figure 21).

TRAF Binding Domain and Helix May Impact Activation

After generating multiple populations of anti-CD19 CAR-T cells using the M83 costimulatory domain or mutated variations of it, the impact of mutations on effector function was examined when these CAR-T cells were co-cultured with CD19+ target cells. CAR-T populations with Raji cells in multiple effector-to-target ratios were co-cultured to do this. An anti-CD19 CAR-T cohort lacking any costimulatory domain (GEN1) was included, allowing us to compare the impact of mutated M83 domains with CAR-T cells with wild-type M83 or without M83 signaling. Twenty-four hours after coculture, culture supernatants and cells were cultured by flow cytometry.

The expression of CD69 and CD25, markers of T cell activation, was investigated in transduced GFP+ donor T cells and controls (Figures 23). A significant reduction in CD69 was observed only in M83NH (Figure 22B), and CD25 was reduced in both M83E/A and M83NH (Figure 22C). Most of the impact of these activation markers is found on the first day (Figure 22D). All constructs reach their maximum CD69 on the first day before decreasing expression. CD25 activation occurs mainly on the first day and increases on the second day. M83NH, as mentioned above, has the lowest expression levels of both markers. These early markers correlate with CAR's level of expression (Figure 23).



Figure 22 Impact of Construct on Activation Markers

(A, B, C) Early activation markers change most when M83 loses its α -helix (M83NH) or with mutated binding domain M83E/A TRAF. (D) Evolution of the constructs from CD69 to CD25 over two days. Example p-values are shown (paired Wilcox).



Figure 23 Construct has a Connection with CD69, CD25

(A) Frequency of CD69 and (B) CD25 as a percentage of cells expressing CAR. The Khachiyan algorithm is used to estimate the surrounding ellipses, using the default tolerance level of 0.01 (Todd & Yıldırım, 2007). M83 Deletions Impact Cytokine Secretion and Expression of Other Markers Associate with T Cell Function

To further elucidate how M83 variants impact CAR-T cells co-cultured with target cells, the expression of several cytokines and other cell makers associated with effector function was measured. IL2 and IFN were drastically reduced in M83E/A and M83NH compared to the other variants (Figure 24A&B). As was the case for activation makers described above, the level of cytokine expression is correlated with the level of CAR expression (Figure 25). There is a positive feedback loop between IL-2 levels and CD25 expression(Busse et al., 2010) and in this experiment, we see a direct correlation between CD25 and IL-2 levels (Figure 26).



Figure 24 Impact of Construct on Cytokines

The early activation markers change the most when M83 loses its α -helix (M83NH) or the mutated binding domain of M83E/A TRAF (A, B). There is less production of the cytokines IL2 and IFN γ . Example p-values are shown (paired Wilcox).



Figure 25 Construct Connection with IL2 and IFNy

Cytokine secretion by CAR-T cells after 48 hours of Raji co-stimulation. (A) IL2 concentration as a function of the percentage of cells expressing CAR (B). IFN γ concentration as a function of the percentage of cells expressing CAR. The Khachiyan algorithm is used to estimate the surrounding ellipses, using the default tolerance level of 0.01 (Todd & Yıldırım, 2007).



Figure 26 IL2 Feedback on CD25 Expression

IL2 expression is plotted against the median fluorescence intensity of CD25 for the first day of all constructs. The shaded band is the 95% confidence level interval for predictions from a best-fitting linear model. The correlation analysis was evaluated using the two-tailed Pearson correlation test.

The expression of CD27 and CCR7, a later stage cell marker, and a homing receptor, respectively, was investigated in transduced GFP+ donor T cells and controls (Figures 28). M83NH showed a significant increase in the expression of CCR7 (Figure 27B), and the expression of CD27 increased in M83E/A and M83NH (Figure 27C). Most

of the impact of these activation markers is found on the first day (Figure 27D). All constructs increase both markers rapidly on the first day and decrease on the second day of the experiment. Constructs with a low percentage of CAR expression (M83E/A, M83NH, Control) actually have higher levels of the late-stage markers CCR7 and CD27.



Figure 27 Impact of Construct on Differentiation Markers

The early activation markers change the most when M83 loses its α-helix (M83NH) or mutates the binding domain of M83E/A TRAF (A, B). The signal from CCR7 increases (C) and CD27 is not removed (D). Example p-values are shown (paired Wilcox).

Change In CD4+ T Cells With M83NT

To better understand the phenotype of CAR-T cells carrying various M83 variants, the CD4+/CD8+ T cell ratio was compared. Two T lymphocyte phenotypes, CD4+ helper/inducer cells and CD8+ cytotoxic/suppressor cells, are distinguished by different surface markers (Amadori et al., 1995). As seen in Figure 28, M83NH showed a substantially higher CD4+/CD8+ ratio than the other constructs. M83E/A showed a trend towards a higher CD4+/CD8+ ratio, but was not significantly different from GEN1 or M83.



Figure 28 CD4+ and CD8+ Markers in Constructs

Comparisons between constructs of CD4+ and CD8+ markers. Example p-values are shown (paired Wilcox).

To better understand possible differences in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, the

expression of activation markers in these subsets was examined individually rather than

in the total population of T cells (Figure 29). As shown above, the expression of CD69 and CD25 is decreased in M83NH compared to the other variants or the GEN1 control, and Figure 29 shows that this decrease is consistent in both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Figure 29 A, B). Similarly, CD25 is expressed lower in M83NH and affects both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells equivalently (Figure 29 C, D). Interestingly, CD27 is expressed higher in M83NH and M83E/A compared to the other variants and the GEN1 control, but only significantly in CD4+ T cells (Figure 29 E, F).



Figure 29 Activation Markers on CD4+ and CD8+ T cells

CD4+ with various other markers is plotted to investigate *CD4+ T* cells further. Example *p*-values are shown (paired Wilcox).

Loss of the M83 tail has three impacts. First, M83NT has more CD4+ T cells (Figure 30A), the frequency of proliferation of CD4+ T cells (Figure 30B), and the intensity of GFP of GFP + cells (Figure 30C).


Figure 30 Effect of Tail Loss on M83

Chapter 4

Discussion

HVEM is an unusual TNFR in that it has both stimulatory and inhibitory effects and at least five different ligands (Cai & Freeman, 2009; Del Rio et al., 2010; Granger & Rickert, 2003; Pasero & Olive, 2013; Sorobetea & Brodsky, 2018). HVEM is broadly expressed in peripheral T and B cells and is present in resting T and B cells (Ning et al., 2021). HVEM expression is more potent in Treg cells than in effector cells, probably identifying it as a mechanism of immune regulation (Del Rio et al., 2010). T cell activation down-regulates HVEM, though HVEM is expressed later on effector and memory T cells (Del Rio et al., 2010). HVEM signaling enhances expression of IFNy, IL-2R, and CD69, and supports CD4+ Th1 cells, CD8+ effector T cells, and Treg hyperproliferation and survival (Miyagaki et al., 2013; Murphy et al., 2006; Murphy & Murphy, 2009). The cytoplasmic portion of HVEM, referred to as "M83" by Inceptor Bio, has recently been investigated as a co-stimulatory domain for CAR-T and was shown to have several properties that could make it a valuable alternative to other widely used co-stimulatory domains, including 4-1BB (Nunoya et al., 2019; Su, 2020). However, the specific role of structural domains in M83 signaling was not investigated.

Loss of M83 Helix and TRF Binding Domain Impact CAR-T Expression

Surprisingly, the levels of CAR expression on the cell surface of GFP+ cells differed considerably and were the lowest in CAR-T cells with the M83NH or M83E/A mutation (Figure 23). There are several possibilities. The lack of an a-helix may have

caused misfolding of the CAR, preventing localization to the membrane, or it could have decreased stability at the surface through multiple potential mechanisms. The surface expression of CAR might need some separation from the membrane for it to function. The lack of an α -helix also may have interfered with the CD3 ζ signaling of the CAR. s M83E/A showed slightly lower CAR expression, but possibly maintained most of the function of the untouched CD3 ζ chain more like GEN1 (Figure 21).

TRAF Binding Domain and Helix Are Needed For Activation

M83NH showed a significant reduction in CD69 expression compared to the other variants and the GEN1 control (Figure 22B), and both M83E/A and M83NH showed lower levels of CD25 (Figure 22C). The first day after co-cultures are established is when these activation signals are expressed the highest (Figure 22D). On the first day, all the constructs reach their maximum CD69 before beginning to retract. The first day is when CD25 activation occurs mainly. CD69 is an early marker of lymphocyte activation and appears on the plasma membrane within hours after stimulation, but decreases shortly thereafter (Cibrian & Sanchez-Madrid, 2017).

It is possible that the decrease in the expression of these activation markers in M83NH is just due to decreased levels of CAR expression. However, because M83E/A shows a similar expression of CD69, the decrease in M83NH could be due to the lack of the TRAF binding domain and helix despite having less CAR expression.

IL2

Culture supernatants showed that the secretion of IL-2 and IFN by transformed donor CAR-T cells with CAR was induced by co-culture with Raji cells. IL-2 is not universally administered in the clinic with CAR-T treatments, as high doses of IL-2 can cause temporary adverse effects such as general malaise, fever, nausea, and vomiting (Rosenberg et al., 1989; Rosenburg, 1987). CAR-T culture medium was not supplemented with IL-2; all identified IL-2 was a product of CAR-T activation due to recognition of the target antigen in Raji cells. Although some CAR-T manufacturing processes include IL-2 in cell media, our process does not; therefore, we can be sure that all identified IL-2 was the product of Raji target CAR-T activation. M83E/A and M83NH are less activated and their levels of IL2 and IFN were significantly reduced (Figure 23A&B). The CD25 (alpha chain of the IL-2 receptor) expression increases as IL2 increases (Figure 26). A STAT5-dependent positive feedback loop results in upregulation of CD25 following IL-2 binding (Lin & Leonard, 1997; Malek, 2008; Malek et al., 2001).

In non-CAR modified T cells, after stimulating the TCR / CD3 complex, IL2 is up-regulated in the first 24 hours and remains elevated for a few days (Jackson et al., 1990; Reddy et al., 2004). Eventually the level of IL2 will rise high enough to change from a microenvironment, autocrine function to a more paracrine Treg system (CD25+ CD4+ Foxp3+) (Busse et al., 2010; Fuhrmann et al., 2016). At some point, CD25 ceases to respond to IL-2 secretion and is not necessarily representative of the total level of activation/effector function. The effects of the M83 variants are probably more complex than what we see in just these surface markers.

CCR7 and CD27

Only M83NH showed a significant increase in CCR7 expression, while M83E/A and M83NH both showed an increase in CD27 expression compared to the other variants (Figure 24C). The first day after the establishment of the co-culture is when these activation signals have the most significant influence (Figure 24D). On the first day, all variants of M83 result in a rapid increase in expression of both markers before decreasing. The most pronounced increases in these late-stage markers are observed in constructs with low or no CAR expression (M83E/A, M83NH, Control).

Of all mutations made within the M83 costimulatory subunit of our anti-CD19 CAR construct, M83NH created the most extensive changes of all mutants tested, possibly by moving both the TRAF binding domain and scFv closer to the cytoplasmic membrane. Loss of the M83 tail also decreased the number of cells that differentiated into CD4+ T cells, decreased the frequency of proliferation of CD4+ T cells, and reduced the intensity of GFP of GFP + cells. A reduced intensity of the GFP intensity may be an indicator of a reduced global translation of mRNA.

The loss of the α -helix could have affected folding and the ability to integrate within the membrane. However, the possible interference of the membrane on the binding of TRAF would be surprising since binding of TRAF6 close to the membrane domain on the C-terminal side of CD40 is possible (Pullen et al., 1999).

It is possible that a TRAF complex cannot form close to the membrane. Although an α -helix is very compact, 40 amino acids were removed, which is a substantial structural element. Each amino acid in an α -helix advances 1.5 angstrom units (Å) down the helix axis, giving each full turn 3.6 amino acid residues (Branden & Tooze, 2012). A full turn advances by 5.4 Å, so the α -helix removed measures about 216 Å. To put this in perspective, the overall dimensions of the cave on TRAF2 that binds to receptors are only 17.5 x 7.5 x 8 Å.

Furthermore, the top of the TRAF trimer polarizes with a positive potential charge facing the membrane (Figure 13). The interior of the cytoplasmic membrane is negatively charged. Bringing the TRAF top to the membrane surface might lead to membrane depolarization. Although membrane depolarization may not imply cell death, it does decrease cell activity (Moo-Young, 2019). It is possible that the positive charge of the TRAF trimer could be enough to depolarize the membrane. The M83NH mutant had significantly reduced CAR surface expression compared to other mutants and showed several reduced activation markers after coculture with a target. As activation readouts within our Gen1 CAR, which lacked any costimulatory domain or TRAF binding site, were not nearly as affected, most likely, the lack of an α -helix might have also interfered with CD3 ζ signaling, or the CAR lacking a helix may never have made it to the cell membrane.

CD4+ T Cells Depend on TRAFs

When the tail is removed, there is a noticeable increase in the CD4+ T cell population. Other M83 constructs did not exhibit the same behavior (Figure 28A). The same pattern was observed in the CD8+ T cell population (Figure 28B). Fewer CD4+ T cells were found in the M83E/A and M83NH mutants (Figure 28B).

M83NH is the only cell with lower early activation marker CD69 and CD25 in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Figure 29 A,B,C,D). However, the expression of CD27 shows

that M83NH and M83E/A primarily impact CD4+ T cells (Figure 29 E, F). Furthermore, in populations transduced with the M83NH or the M83E/A construct, there is a considerable increase in CD4+ T cell count (Figure 30).

Various TNFRs have different CD4/CD8 T cell dynamics. The impact of HVEM on the dynamics of CD4+/CD8+ T cells has not been studied. Other TNFRs have been compared. OX40 activity has been revealed to be crucial for activated CD8+ T cell survival, proliferation, and cytokine production (Taraban et al., 2002). OX40 is believed to be more active in CD4+ T cells and 4-1BB in CD8+ T cells (even independently of CD4+ T cell involvement) (Bansal-Pakala et al., 2004; Fujita et al., 2006). In mice, the knockout of TRAF2 and TRAF3 in T cells affects the number and types of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells differently. For example, T-Traf2-/- mice have an average number of CD4+ T cells but 50% fewer CD8+ T cells (Villanueva et al., 2015). The development of CD4+ T cell subtypes depends on TRAF2, while CD8+ T cells are not affected by the loss of TRAF2 for optimal activation and proliferation downstream of TCR signaling (Villanueva et al., 2017). T-Traf3–/– mice have normal numbers of total CD4+ and CD8+ T cells (Xie et al., 2011; Yi, Stunz, et al., 2014) but have an increased frequency of effector/memory CD4+ T cells (Xie et al., 2011; Xie et al., 2007; Yi, Lin, et al., 2014; Yi, Stunz, et al., 2014). This impact of TRAF 3 and TRAF 2 on CD4+ T cells could be due to regulation of the ncNFkB as T-Traf5-/- mice have normal proportions of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells but skew CD4+ T cells toward an activated phenotype (Nakano et al., 1999) (Figure 5).

This work suggests that M83NT mutants could preferentially signal through the ncNFκB pathway due to the loss of TRAF3 and/or TRAF5 binding. Several researchers

have thought that the reduction in the number of naïve CD4+ T cells in T-Traf3–/– mice is due to the loss of Treg-mediated suppression of effector/memory CD4+ T cells (Chang et al., 2014; Yi, Stunz, et al., 2014).

It is possibly not due to the impact of Treg mediation, as the experiment ended two days before many Treg cells could develop. However, it is also possible that the CD4/8 T cell ratios are different in M83E/A because this mutant did not express the same level of CAR as in wild-type GEN 1 or M83.

The E3 ubiquitin ligases are the final enzymes in transferring ubiquitin to substrate proteins, which decides the fate of the modified protein. The E3 ubiquitin ligases add ubiquitin to proteins by covalently modifying one or more lysine residues. E3 ligases play such an important role that their activity must be strictly regulated to ensure that E3 ligases act only when needed. Numerous recent experiments have focused on the inactivation of E3 ligases and the ensuing effects at the molecular or cellular level. Inactivation of E3 ligases has been described using site-specific mutations of critical residues involved in protein association, substrate recognition, or ubiquitin transfer (Garcia-Barcena et al., 2020). However, predicting which mutations prevent a ligase from catalyzing is not always straightforward. Even with an accurate method to determine which residues are ubiquitinated, such as mass spectrometry, it can be difficult. When a ubiquitinated lysine is mutated, another lysine residue within the protein of interest may become ubiquitinated. Also, lysines may be important for protein folding, protein/protein interactions, or as a target for various post-translational changes in addition to ubiquitination (Stringer & Piper, 2011). Mutating a lysine to eliminate ubiquitination in

M83 could function similarly to M83NT because M83NT also lacks lysines (Dejardin, 2006).

CD4+ CAR-T Cells Increase and Slow Activation in Mutants.

There are three significant effects resulting from the removal of the tail of M83 from these CAR constructs. First, Figures 32A and 32B show that, in populations that harbor tail constructs, there is an increase in the frequency of CD4+ T cells. The enrichment in CD4+ T cells could be because they are proliferating better, or maybe CD8+ T cells are dying. Second, constructs without tails show a decreased intensity of GFP (Figure 30C). The level of GFP could be construct-specific but also may reflect the extent of mRNA translation worldwide. Third, M83NT has slower activation and progresses slower from naïve CD4+ T cells to later subsets.

Removing the last 15 residues from the C end of the cytoplasmic portion of CD40 completely removed the binding of TRAF3 to CD40 (Leo et al., 1999). As a result, CD40 binds to TRAF2 and TRAF3 in different ways to modulate the intensity of the connections. TRAF3 interacts with CD40 and LTβR receptor residues, creating a hairpin essential for contact with TRAF3 (Ni et al., 2000). Notwithstanding the above, it should be noted that the second generation CAR-T, M83, is followed by CD3ζ, which could change the conformation and function of the M83 tail. In CD40 and wild-type HVEM, the protein's tail is the C terminus. Therefore, the wild-type tail can conformationally move and rotate, while in the M83 CAR-T, the tail is restricted in its movement by CD3ζ.

In many situations, such as Epstein-Barr virus infection (Eliopoulos et al., 2003), cancer (Cormier et al., 2013; Ranuncolo et al., 2012; Vallabhapurapu et al., 2015; Wharry et al., 2009), and normal lymphoid growth under the supervision of TNFRs (Claudio et al., 2002; Shinkura et al., 1999; Willmann et al., 2014), the ncNF κ B pathway increases cell survival. Additionally, ncNF κ B signaling was induced by 4-1BB CARs and not by a CD28 CAR after ligand interaction (Philipson et al., 2020). Furthermore, reduced ncNF κ B signaling was associated with a significant increase in the abundance of Bim pro-apoptotic isoforms (Philipson et al., 2020). This evidence highlights the importance and non-redundant function of ncNF κ B signaling in increasing the survival of CAR-T cells of 4-1BB CAR-T cells (and probably other TNFRs), despite the possibility that there are additional crucial components in exhaustion.

Activation of the ncNF κ B pathway is slow (hours scale) compared to the canonical NF- κ B pathway, and the ncNF κ B pathway requires new protein synthesis to progress (Dejardin, 2006). The ncNF κ B pathway contrasts with TNFR receptor-mediated activation of the canonical NF- κ B route, which occurs in minutes and does not require new protein synthesis (Vallabhapurapu et al., 2008; Zarnegar et al., 2008). Furthermore, the ncNF κ B pathway generally maintains more CD4+ naïve T cells, and its slower metabolism preserves the naïve T phenotype (Sun, 2017). CARs that encourage more and longer persistence of naïve CD4+ T cells could be better CARs than those generated from effector T cells. Therefore, T cells that use the ncNF κ B pathway will activate slower and persist longer. Although the experiments described in the current work were not designed to measure persistence, M83NT appears to activate slower (Figure 30).

CD4+ T cells produce more cytokines than those obtained from CD4+ Tcm cells and Tem cells or CD8+ T cells (Sommermeyer et al., 2016). CD4+ T cells dominate and eventually overwhelm the T cell population in long-term investigations of CAR patients (add reference). In a recent study using single-cell analysis of two patients ten years after receiving CAR-T cells transduced with mouse FMC63-based CAR that carry 4-1BB and CD3ζ signaling domains and an anti-CD19 scFv, a highly active CD4+ T cell population emerged and became dominant over time, indicating that CAR-T cells evolved. After an initial phase in which CD8+ T cells and gamma delta T cells predominated, CD4+ T cells took over in the remission phase. In one patient, CD4+ T cells finally made up 99.6% of cells, while in the other, they made up 97.6% (Melenhorst et al., 2022). The findings imply that responses to CAR-T cell therapy in these patients can be divided into two phases: the early phase dominated by killer T cells and the long-term remission controlled by CD4+ T cells. These CD4+ T cells continued to kill tumor cells and proliferate with time.

We must be careful not to generalize. It should be noted that this article only looked at two long-term CLL survivors who received FMC63-41BB CARs. There was no control for the composition of the T cell input (i.e., CD4+ to CD8+ T cells after transfusion). How responses proceed in patients with CAR-T cells associated with less persistence, such as CAR-T cells that use CD28 as their co-stimulatory domain, can differ.

M83, in this way, might behave more like 4-1BB. A CD4+ T cell such as that perhaps seen in M83NT could ensure long-term tumor remission if it did not jeopardize the early benefit of CD8+ T cells. M83NT has lower activation and progresses slower from naïve CD4+ T cells to later subsets. Removal of the tail would decrease the number of ready naïve T cells (Figure 30A), reduce the frequency of proliferation of T cells (Figure 30B), and generally slow their metabolism (Figure 30C).

Summary

Three domains of the M83 costimulatory domain are noted to play unique roles and have a critical relevance in their use in a chimeric antigen receptor. A point mutation of E to A in the M83 TRAF binding domain (M83E/A) was sufficient to alter the wildtype phenotype of M83. M83E/A showed poor CAR expression but possibly maintained most of the function of the CD3 ζ chain as seen in GEN1. Unexpectedly, removing the long α -helix severely reduced the CAR's function. Finally, removal of the C-terminal tail domain (M83NT) resulted in a functional but nuanced CAR phenotype, as shown by slower activation of wild-type M83 (Figure 30).

There are several possible explanations for the M83NT phenotype. As represented in Figure 31, it is possible that the lack of a tail in M83 acts similarly to CD40 and LT β R. Presumably, the lack of the tail prevents the formation of the TRAF2/TRAF3/cIAP1/cIAP2 complex. This structure would ordinarily limit the activation of the ncNF κ B pathway by constitutive NIK proteasomal degradation. The molecular complex that includes NIK does not have to be disrupted by degradation of TRAF3 because TRAF2 and TRAF3 are not recruited to the TNFRs and NIK is constitutively generated. NIK then phosphorylates IKK, which then phosphorylates p100, causing p100 to be processed into p52 and NF κ B dimers (such as p52-RelB) to be translocated to the nucleus. TRAF2 or TRAF3 inhibits NIK activity and lowers ncNF κ B movement through the pathway in a normal M83 T cell (Vallabhapurapu et al., 2008; Zarnegar et al., 2008).



Figure 31 Mechanism of No Tail Construct (M83NT) on NF-κB Pathways *Ub, ubiquitination*.

Future Directions

Coculture of anti-CD19 CAR-T cells bearing modified M83 domains with target cell lines can alter CAR-T activation responses that emerged as a function of specific costimulatory domain modifications. Loss of the membrane-proximal α -helix severely inhibited CAR activation. Mutation of the M83 TRAF binding domain reduced the expression of activation markers relative to wild-type M83 and CAR-T cells without a costimulatory domain. Deleting the C-terminal tail domain yielded a minimum impact on activation. However, interesting trends in the overall responses of CAR-T culture to target cells can potentially indicate a change in the dynamics of TRAF signaling, suggesting increased non-canonical ncNFκB signaling, which could encourage longer persistence of CAR-T cells. This work indicates that using a truncated M83 as a CAR-T costimulatory domain may improve the persistence and efficacy of CAR-T, but more work is needed.

In addition to the challenges of the variability of culture conditions, reagents, and equipment, there is also variability in donor T cell responses. These experiments showed dramatic donor-derived variation in cytokine expression levels and kinetics. M83 may have more stem or memory-like phenotype generation than GEN1 CAR depending on the donor. To remove this donor variability would require an impractical number of donors. The donor variability we see mirrors a significant challenge of autologous cell therapies in that every patient, and therefore every manufacturing run, has starting material unique from every other patient.

More studies with M83NT mutants should be performed to determine the presence of a population of CD8+ T cells from Tcm (CD4+4hiCD62Lhi). If M83NT reduces the binding of TRAF3, we should expect fewer Tcm cells. Tcm CD8+ T cells have better antitumor immunity and durability than Tem and Teff cells(Wherry et al., 2003). Furthermore, the Tcm/Teff ratio is a biomarker for immunological responses to some malignancies (Reboursiere et al., 2018). It would also be interesting to see if IL-7 and IL-15 can similarly encourage Tcm-like CD8+ T cells, as has been developed for immunotherapy (Araki et al., 2009; Carrio et al., 2004).

Killing of target B cells (Raji) was not determined. The purpose was to study the impact of altered costimulation on the phenotype of T cells, not necessarily the overall performance of the T cell, and to determine which residues of M83 are critical to its enhancement of T cell signaling. Further studies should investigate the targeted killing of Raji by M83NT to see if this mutant can extend the persistence and killing of CAR-T. Furthermore, studies could be performed on the extent of M83 exhaustion by tracking longer-term markers such as PD-1, TIM-3, and LAG-3. Finally, TRAFs affect T-Regs, so they could also be explored.

Furthermore, further studies could be performed to determine whether there is a constitutive nuclear localization of the NF-κB proteins p52 and RelB in M83NT mutants. Finally, it would be interesting to see if M83 without a tail has a slower metabolism, as this could improve the required persistence characteristics of the CAR.

References

- Adzhubei, A. A., Sternberg, M. J., & Makarov, A. A. (2013, Jun 26). Polyproline-II helix in proteins: structure and function. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 425(12), 2100-2132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2013.03.018
- Akiba, H., Nakano, H., Nishinaka, S., Shindo, M., Kobata, T., Atsuta, M., Morimoto, C., Ware, C. F., Malinin, N. L., Wallach, D., Yagita, H., & Okumura, K. (1998, May 22). CD27, a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily, activates NF-kappaB and stress-activated protein kinase/c-Jun N-terminal kinase via TRAF2, TRAF5, and NF-kappaB-inducing kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(21), 13353-13358. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.21.13353
- Amadori, A., Zamarchi, R., De Silvestro, G., Forza, G., Cavatton, G., Danieli, G. A., Clementi, M., & Chieco-Bianchi, L. (1995). Genetic control of the CD4/CD8 Tcell ratio in humans. *Nature Medicine*, 1(12), 1279-1283.
- Araki, K., Turner, A. P., Shaffer, V. O., Gangappa, S., Keller, S. A., Bachmann, M. F., Larsen, C. P., & Ahmed, R. (2009, Jul 2). mTOR regulates memory CD8 T-cell differentiation. *Nature*, 460(7251), 108-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08155</u>
- Arch, R. H., & Thompson, C. B. (1998). 4-1BB and Ox40 are members of a tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-nerve growth factor receptor subfamily that bind TNF receptor-associated factors and activate nuclear factor kB. *Molecular and Cellular Bio*, 18(1), 558-565. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC121523/pdf/mb000558.pdf
- Arkee, T., & Bishop, G. A. (2020, Jun). TRAF family molecules in T cells: Multiple receptors and functions. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 107(6), 907-915. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.2MR1119-397R</u>
- Bansal-Pakala, P., Halteman, B. S., Cheng, M. H., & Croft, M. (2004, Apr 15). Costimulation of CD8 T cell responses by OX40. *Journal of Immunology*, 172(8), 4821-4825. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.172.8.4821</u>
- Barnes, S. E., Wang, Y., Chen, L., Molinero, L. L., Gajewski, T. F., Evaristo, C., & Alegre, M.-L. (2015). T cell-NF-κB activation is required for tumor control in vivo. *J for Immunotherapy of Cancer*, *3*(1), 1-11. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4308877/pdf/40425_2014_Articl e_45.pdf</u>
- Bengsch, B., Johnson, A. L., Kurachi, M., Odorizzi, P. M., Pauken, K. E., Attanasio, J., Stelekati, E., McLane, L. M., Paley, M. A., & Delgoffe, G. M. (2016).Bioenergetic insufficiencies due to metabolic alterations regulated by the

inhibitory receptor PD-1 are an early driver of CD8+ T cell exhaustion. *Immunity*, 45(2), 358-373.

- Bian, Y., Song, C., Cheng, K., Dong, M., Wang, F., Huang, J., Sun, D., Wang, L., Ye, M., & Zou, H. (2014, Jan 16). An enzyme assisted RP-RPLC approach for indepth analysis of human liver phosphoproteome. *Journal of Proteomics*, 96, 253-262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2013.11.014
- Boyiadzis, M. M., Dhodapkar, M. V., Brentjens, R. J., Kochenderfer, J. N., Neelapu, S. S., Maus, M. V., Porter, D. L., Maloney, D. G., Grupp, S. A., Mackall, C. L., June, C. H., & Bishop, M. R. (2018, Dec 4). Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T therapies for the treatment of hematologic malignancies: clinical perspective and significance. *J Immunother Cancer*, 6(1), 137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40425-018-0460-5</u>
- Branden, C. I., & Tooze, J. (2012). Introduction to protein structure. Garland Science.
- Brentjens, R. J., Davila, M. L., Riviere, I., Park, J., Wang, X., Cowell, L. G., Bartido, S., Stefanski, J., Taylor, C., Olszewska, M., Borquez-Ojeda, O., Qu, J., Wasielewska, T., He, Q., Bernal, Y., Rijo, I. V., Hedvat, C., Kobos, R., Curran, K., Steinherz, P., Jurcic, J., Rosenblat, T., Maslak, P., Frattini, M., & Sadelain, M. (2013, Mar 20). CD19-targeted T cells rapidly induce molecular remissions in adults with chemotherapy-refractory acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Science Translational Medicine*, 5(177), 177ra138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.3005930</u>
- Brosnan, M. E., & Brosnan, J. T. (2020, Oct 1). Histidine Metabolism and Function. Journal of Nutrition, 150(Suppl 1), 2570S-2575S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/nxaa079
- Brudno, J. N., & Kochenderfer, J. N. (2018, Jan). Chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapies for lymphoma. *Nature Reviews: Clinical Oncology*, *15*(1), 31-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrclinonc.2017.128</u>
- Busse, D., de la Rosa, M., Hobiger, K., Thurley, K., Flossdorf, M., Scheffold, A., & Höfer, T. (2010). Competing feedback loops shape IL-2 signaling between helper and regulatory T lymphocytes in cellular microenvironments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(7), 3058-3063.
- Cai, G., & Freeman, G. J. (2009, May). The CD160, BTLA, LIGHT/HVEM pathway: a bidirectional switch regulating T-cell activation. *Immunological Reviews*, 229(1), 244-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-065X.2009.00783.x</u>
- Cappell, K. M., & Kochenderfer, J. N. (2021, Nov). A comparison of chimeric antigen receptors containing CD28 versus 4-1BB costimulatory domains. *Nature Reviews: Clinical Oncology*, 18(11), 715-727. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41571-021-00530-z</u>

- Carrio, R., Bathe, O. F., & Malek, T. R. (2004). Initial antigen encounter programs CD8+ T cells competent to develop into memory cells that are activated in an antigenfree, IL-7-and IL-15-rich environment. *The Journal of Immunology*, 172(12), 7315-7323.
- Chang, J. H., Hu, H., Jin, J., Puebla-Osorio, N., Xiao, Y., Gilbert, B. E., Brink, R., Ullrich, S. E., & Sun, S. C. (2014, Jan 13). TRAF3 regulates the effector function of regulatory T cells and humoral immune responses. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 211(1), 137-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20131019</u>
- Chaudhury, A., Zhu, X., Chu, L., Goliaei, A., June, C. H., Kearns, J. D., & Stein, A. M. (2020, Oct). Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Therapies: A Review of Cellular Kinetic-Pharmacodynamic Modeling Approaches. *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 60 Suppl 1, S147-S159. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcph.1691
- Chen, L., & Flies, D. B. (2013, Apr). Molecular mechanisms of T cell co-stimulation and co-inhibition. *Nature Reviews: Immunology*, 13(4), 227-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3405</u>
- Cheung, T. C., Steinberg, M. W., Oborne, L. M., Macauley, M. G., Fukuyama, S., Sanjo, H., D'Souza, C., Norris, P. S., Pfeffer, K., Murphy, K. M., Kronenberg, M., Spear, P. G., & Ware, C. F. (2009, Apr 14). Unconventional ligand activation of herpesvirus entry mediator signals cell survival. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(15), 6244-6249. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0902115106
- Cibrian, D., & Sanchez-Madrid, F. (2017, Jun). CD69: from activation marker to metabolic gatekeeper. *European Journal of Immunology*, 47(6), 946-953. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201646837
- Claudio, E., Brown, K., Park, S., Wang, H., & Siebenlist, U. (2002). BAFF-induced NEMO-independent processing of NF-κB2 in maturing B cells. *Nature Immunology*, *3*(10), 958-965.
- Collaboration, G. B. o. D. C. (2022, Mar 1). Cancer Incidence, Mortality, Years of Life Lost, Years Lived With Disability, and Disability-Adjusted Life Years for 29 Cancer Groups From 2010 to 2019: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *JAMA Oncol*, 8(3), 420-444. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.6987
- Cormier, F., Monjanel, H., Fabre, C., Billot, K., Sapharikas, E., Chereau, F., Bordereaux, D., Molina, T. J., Avet-Loiseau, H., & Baud, V. (2013). Frequent engagement of RelB activation is critical for cell survival in multiple myeloma. *PloS One*, 8(3), e59127.
- da Silva, D. G., Mukherjee, M., Srinivasan, M., Dakhova, O., Liu, H., Grilley, B., Gee, A. P., Neelapu, S. S., Rooney, C. M., & Heslop, H. E. (2016). Direct comparison

of in vivo fate of second and third-generation CD19-specific chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)-T cells in patients with B-cell lymphoma: reversal of toxicity from tonic signaling. *Blood*, *128*(22), 1851.

- Dai, Q., Han, P., Qi, X., Li, F., Li, M., Fan, L., Zhang, H., Zhang, X., & Yang, X. (2020).
 4-1BB Signaling Boosts the Anti-Tumor Activity of CD28-Incorporated 2(nd) Generation Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11, 539654. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.539654</u>
- Dejardin, E. (2006, Oct 30). The alternative NF-kappaB pathway from biochemistry to biology: pitfalls and promises for future drug development. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 72(9), 1161-1179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2006.08.007</u>
- Del Rio, M., Lucas, C., Buhler, L., Rayat, G., & Rodriguez-Barbosa, J. (2010). HVEM/LIGHT/BTLA/CD160 cosignaling pathways as targets for immune regulation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 87(2), 223-235. <u>https://jlb.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdfdirect/10.1189/jlb.0809590?download=t</u> <u>rue</u>
- DeLano, W. (2002). The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System. In Delano Scientific.
- Eliopoulos, A. G., Caamano, J. H., Flavell, J., Reynolds, G. M., Murray, P. G., Poyet, J. L., & Young, L. S. (2003, Oct 23). Epstein-Barr virus-encoded latent infection membrane protein 1 regulates the processing of p100 NF-kappaB2 to p52 via an IKKgamma/NEMO-independent signalling pathway. *Oncogene*, 22(48), 7557-7569. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207120</u>
- Enblad, G., Karlsson, H., Gammelgård, G., Wenthe, J., Lövgren, T., Amini, R. M., Wikstrom, K. I., Essand, M., Savoldo, B., & Hallböök, H. (2018). A Phase I/IIA Trial Using CD19-Targeted Third-Generation Car T Cells For Lymphoma And Leukemia. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 24(24), 6185-6194. <u>https://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/clincanres/24/24/6185.full.pdf</u>
- Esparza, E. M., & Arch, R. H. (2005). Glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor, a costimulatory receptor on naive and activated T cells, uses TNF receptor-associated factor 2 in a novel fashion as an inhibitor of NF-κB activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, *174*(12), 7875-7882. https://www.jimmunol.org/content/jimmunol/174/12/7875.full.pdf
- Fersht, A. R., & Sato, S. (2004, May 25). Phi-value analysis and the nature of proteinfolding transition states. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(21), 7976-7981. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0402684101
- Foight, G. W., & Keating, A. E. (2016, Jul). Comparison of the peptide binding preferences of three closely related TRAF paralogs: TRAF2, TRAF3, and TRAF5. *Protein Science*, 25(7), 1273-1289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.2881</u>

- Forbes, S. A., Beare, D., Boutselakis, H., Bamford, S., Bindal, N., Tate, J., Cole, C. G., Ward, S., Dawson, E., & Ponting, L. (2017). COSMIC: somatic cancer genetics at high-resolution. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 45(D1), D777-D783. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5210583/pdf/gkw1121.pdf
- Frey, N. V., Gill, S., Hexner, E. O., Schuster, S., Nasta, S., Loren, A., Svoboda, J., Stadtmauer, E., Landsburg, D. J., Mato, A., Levine, B. L., Lacey, S. F., Melenhorst, J. J., Veloso, E., Gaymon, A., Pequignot, E., Shan, X., Hwang, W. T., June, C. H., & Porter, D. L. (2020, Sep 1). Long-Term Outcomes From a Randomized Dose Optimization Study of Chimeric Antigen Receptor Modified T Cells in Relapsed Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *38*(25), 2862-2871. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.19.03237
- Fuhrmann, F., Lischke, T., Gross, F., Scheel, T., Bauer, L., Kalim, K. W., Radbruch, A., Herzel, H., Hutloff, A., & Baumgrass, R. (2016, Dec 30). Adequate immune response ensured by binary IL-2 and graded CD25 expression in a murine transfer model. *Elife*, 5, e20616. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.20616</u>
- Fujita, T., Ukyo, N., Hori, T., & Uchiyama, T. (2006, Jul 15). Functional characterization of OX40 expressed on human CD8+ T cells. *Immunology Letters*, 106(1), 27-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2006.04.001
- Fujiwara, Y., Kato, T., Hasegawa, F., Sunahara, M., & Tsurumaki, Y. (2022, Feb 9). The Past, Present, and Future of Clinically Applied Chimeric Antigen Receptor-T-Cell Therapy. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel, Switzerland)*, 15(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/ph15020207
- Garcia-Barcena, C., Osinalde, N., Ramirez, J., & Mayor, U. (2020). How to inactivate human ubiquitin E3 ligases by mutation. *Frontiers in cell and developmental biology*, *8*, 39.
- Gardam, S., Sierro, F., Basten, A., Mackay, F., & Brink, R. (2008, Mar). TRAF2 and TRAF3 signal adapters act cooperatively to control the maturation and survival signals delivered to B cells by the BAFF receptor. *Immunity*, 28(3), 391-401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2008.01.009</u>
- Gedrich, R. W., Gilfillan, M. C., Duckett, C. S., Van Dongen, J. L., & Thompson, C. B. (1996, May 31). CD30 contains two binding sites with different specificities for members of the tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor family of signal transducing proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(22), 12852-12858. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.22.12852</u>
- Gomes-Silva, D., Mukherjee, M., Srinivasan, M., Krenciute, G., Dakhova, O., Zheng, Y., Cabral, J. M., Rooney, C. M., Orange, J. S., & Brenner, M. K. (2017). Tonic 4-1BB costimulation in chimeric antigen receptors impedes T cell survival and is vector-dependent. *Cell Reports* 21(1), 17-26. <u>https://www.cell.com/cellreports/pdf/S2211-1247(17)31276-7.pdf</u>

- Granger, S. W., & Rickert, S. (2003, Jun-Aug). LIGHT-HVEM signaling and the regulation of T cell-mediated immunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev*, 14(3-4), 289-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1359-6101(03)00031-5</u>
- Grimsrud, P. A., Carson, J. J., Hebert, A. S., Hubler, S. L., Niemi, N. M., Bailey, D. J., Jochem, A., Stapleton, D. S., Keller, M. P., Westphall, M. S., Yandell, B. S., Attie, A. D., Coon, J. J., & Pagliarini, D. J. (2012, Nov 7). A quantitative map of the liver mitochondrial phosphoproteome reveals posttranslational control of ketogenesis. *Cell Metabolism*, *16*(5), 672-683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2012.10.004
- Gross, G., Waks, T., & Eshhar, Z. (1989). Expression of immunoglobulin-T-cell receptor chimeric molecules as functional receptors with antibody-type specificity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *86*(24), 10024-10028.
- Guedan, S., Posey Jr, A. D., Shaw, C., Wing, A., Da, T., Patel, P. R., McGettigan, S. E., Casado-Medrano, V., Kawalekar, O. U., & Uribe-Herranz, M. (2018). Enhancing CAR T cell persistence through ICOS and 4-1BB costimulation. *JCI insight*, 3(1).
- Guex, N., & Peitsch, M. C. (1997, Dec). SWISS-MODEL and the Swiss-PdbViewer: an environment for comparative protein modeling. *Electrophoresis*, 18(15), 2714-2723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/elps.1150181505</u>
- Ha, H., Han, D., & Choi, Y. (2009, Nov). TRAF-mediated TNFR-family signaling. *Current Protocols in Immunology, Chapter 11*(1), Unit11 19D. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.im1109ds87</u>
- Häcker, H., Tseng, P.-H., & Karin, M. (2011). Expanding TRAF function: TRAF3 as a tri-faced immune regulator. *Nature reviews immunology*, *11*(7), 457-468.
- Hauer, J., Püschner, S., Ramakrishnan, P., Simon, U., Bongers, M., Federle, C., & Engelmann, H. (2005). TNF receptor (TNFR)-associated factor (TRAF) 3 serves as an inhibitor of TRAF2/5-mediated activation of the noncanonical NF-κB pathway by TRAF-binding TNFRs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 102*(8), 2874-2879. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC549490/pdf/pnas-</u>0500187102.pdf
- Hollyman, D., Stefanski, J., Przybylowski, M., Bartido, S., Borquez-Ojeda, O., Taylor, C., Yeh, R., Capacio, V., Olszewska, M., Hosey, J., Sadelain, M., Brentjens, R. J., & Riviere, I. (2009, Feb-Mar). Manufacturing validation of biologically functional T cells targeted to CD19 antigen for autologous adoptive cell therapy. *Journal of Immunotherapy*, *32*(2), 169-180. https://doi.org/10.1097/CJI.0b013e318194a6e8

- Hopken, U. E., & Rehm, A. (2019, Jun). Targeting the Tumor Microenvironment of Leukemia and Lymphoma. *Trends Cancer*, 5(6), 351-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2019.05.001</u>
- Hsu, H., Solovyev, I., Colombero, A., Elliott, R., Kelley, M., & Boyle, W. J. (1997). ATAR, a novel tumor necrosis factor receptor family member, signals through TRAF2 and TRAF5. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(21), 13471-13474. https://www.jbc.org/article/S0021-9258(18)40329-8/pdf
- Huang, R., Li, X., He, Y., Zhu, W., Gao, L., Liu, Y., Gao, L., Wen, Q., Zhong, J. F., Zhang, C., & Zhang, X. (2020, Jul 2). Recent advances in CAR-T cell engineering. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, 13(1), 86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00910-5</u>
- Inoue, J.-i., Ishida, T., Tsukamoto, N., Kobayashi, N., Naito, A., Azuma, S., & Yamamoto, T. (2000). Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF) family: adapter proteins that mediate cytokine signaling. *Experimental Cell Research*, 254(1), 14-24. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S001448279994733X?via%</u> <u>3Dihub</u>
- Ishida, T. K., Tojo, T., Aoki, T., Kobayashi, N., Ohishi, T., Watanabe, T., Yamamoto, T., & Inoue, J. (1996, Sep 3). TRAF5, a novel tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated factor family protein, mediates CD40 signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(18), 9437-9442. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.18.9437
- Jackson, A. L., Matsumoto, H., Janszen, M., Maino, V., Blidy, A., & Shye, S. (1990, Jan). Restricted expression of p55 interleukin 2 receptor (CD25) on normal T cells. *Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology*, 54(1), 126-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-1229(90)90012-f</u>
- Jacoby, E., & Fry, T. J. (2020). CAR 2.0: The Next Generation of Synthetic Receptor– Based Cellular Therapy for Cancer. In *Chimeric Antigen Receptor T-Cell Therapies for Cancer* (pp. 199-208). Elsevier.
- Jang, I. K., Lee, Z. H., Kim, Y. J., Kim, S. H., & Kwon, B. S. (1998). Human 4-1BB (CD137) signals are mediated by TRAF2 and activate nuclear factor-κB. *Biochemical and Biophysical Res Communications*, 242(3), 613-620. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0006291X97980165?via%</u> <u>3Dihub</u>
- Jumper, J., Evans, R., Pritzel, A., Green, T., Figurnov, M., Ronneberger, O., Tunyasuvunakool, K., Bates, R., Zidek, A., Potapenko, A., Bridgland, A., Meyer, C., Kohl, S. A. A., Ballard, A. J., Cowie, A., Romera-Paredes, B., Nikolov, S., Jain, R., Adler, J., Back, T., Petersen, S., Reiman, D., Clancy, E., Zielinski, M., Steinegger, M., Pacholska, M., Berghammer, T., Bodenstein, S., Silver, D.,

Vinyals, O., Senior, A. W., Kavukcuoglu, K., Kohli, P., & Hassabis, D. (2021, Aug). Highly accurate protein structure prediction with AlphaFold. *Nature*, *596*(7873), 583-589. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03819-2

- Kim, S. H., Jun, H. J., Jang, S. I., & You, J. C. (2012). The determination of importance of sequences neighboring the Psi sequence in lentiviral vector transduction and packaging efficiency. *PloS One*, 7(11), e50148. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050148
- Kraus, Z. J., Haring, J. S., & Bishop, G. A. (2008). TNF receptor-associated factor 5 is required for optimal T cell expansion and survival in response to infection. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181(11), 7800-7809.
- Krause, A., Guo, H. F., Latouche, J. B., Tan, C., Cheung, N. K., & Sadelain, M. (1998, Aug 17). Antigen-dependent CD28 signaling selectively enhances survival and proliferation in genetically modified activated human primary T lymphocytes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 188(4), 619-626. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.188.4.619
- Kwon, B., Yu, K. Y., Ni, J., Yu, G. L., Jang, I. K., Kim, Y. J., Xing, L., Liu, D., Wang, S. X., & Kwon, B. S. (1999, Mar 5). Identification of a novel activation-inducible protein of the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily and its ligand. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(10), 6056-6061. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.10.6056
- Leo, E., Welsh, K., Matsuzawa, S., Zapata, J. M., Kitada, S., Mitchell, R. S., Ely, K. R., & Reed, J. C. (1999, Aug 6). Differential requirements for tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor family proteins in CD40-mediated induction of NFkappaB and Jun N-terminal kinase activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(32), 22414-22422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.32.22414</u>
- Li, C., Norris, P. S., Ni, C. Z., Havert, M. L., Chiong, E. M., Tran, B. R., Cabezas, E., Reed, J. C., Satterthwait, A. C., Ware, C. F., & Ely, K. R. (2003, Dec 12). Structurally distinct recognition motifs in lymphotoxin-beta receptor and CD40 for tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor (TRAF)-mediated signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(50), 50523-50529. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M309381200</u>
- Li, G., Boucher, J. C., Kotani, H., Park, K., Zhang, Y., Shrestha, B., Wang, X., Guan, L., Beatty, N., Abate-Daga, D., & Davila, M. L. (2018, Sep 20). 4-1BB enhancement of CAR T function requires NF-kappaB and TRAFs. *JCI Insight*, 3(18). <u>https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.121322</u>
- Lin, J. X., & Leonard, W. J. (1997, Dec). Signaling from the IL-2 receptor to the nucleus. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev*, 8(4), 313-332. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1359-6101(97)00021-x</u>

- Locksley, R. M., Killeen, N., & Lenardo, M. J. (2001, Feb 23). The TNF and TNF receptor superfamilies: integrating mammalian biology. *Cell*, 104(4), 487-501. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(01)00237-9
- Lovell, S. C., Davis, I. W., Arendall III, W. B., De Bakker, P. I., Word, J. M., Prisant, M. G., Richardson, J. S., & Richardson, D. C. (2003). Structure validation by Cα geometry: φ, ψ and Cβ deviation. *Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics*, 50(3), 437-450. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/prot.10286
- Malek, T. R. (2008). The biology of interleukin-2. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 26, 453-479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090357</u>
- Malek, T. R., Yu, A., Scibelli, P., Lichtenheld, M. G., & Codias, E. K. (2001, Feb 1). Broad programming by IL-2 receptor signaling for extended growth to multiple cytokines and functional maturation of antigen-activated T cells. *Journal of Immunology*, 166(3), 1675-1683. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.166.3.1675</u>
- Marsters, S. A., Ayres, T. M., Skubatch, M., Gray, C. L., Rothe, M., & Ashkenazi, A. (1997, May 30). Herpesvirus entry mediator, a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) family, interacts with members of the TNFR-associated factor family and activates the transcription factors NF-kappaB and AP-1. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, 272(22), 14029-14032. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.22.14029
- McPherson, A. J., Snell, L. M., Mak, T. W., & Watts, T. H. (2012, Jun 29). Opposing roles for TRAF1 in the alternative versus classical NF-kappaB pathway in T cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 287(27), 23010-23019. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.350538
- McWhirter, S. M., Pullen, S. S., Holton, J. M., Crute, J. J., Kehry, M. R., & Alber, T. (1999, Jul 20). Crystallographic analysis of CD40 recognition and signaling by human TRAF2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(15), 8408-8413. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.15.8408</u>
- Melenhorst, J. J., Chen, G. M., Wang, M., Porter, D. L., Chen, C., Collins, M. A., Gao, P., Bandyopadhyay, S., Sun, H., Zhao, Z., Lundh, S., Pruteanu-Malinici, I., Nobles, C. L., Maji, S., Frey, N. V., Gill, S. I., Tian, L., Kulikovskaya, I., Gupta, M., Ambrose, D. E., Davis, M. M., Fraietta, J. A., Brogdon, J. L., Young, R. M., Chew, A., Levine, B. L., Siegel, D. L., Alanio, C., Wherry, E. J., Bushman, F. D., Lacey, S. F., Tan, K., & June, C. H. (2022, Feb). Decade-long leukaemia remissions with persistence of CD4(+) CAR T cells. *Nature*, 602(7897), 503-509. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-04390-6
- Mertins, P., Mani, D. R., Ruggles, K. V., Gillette, M. A., Clauser, K. R., Wang, P., Wang, X., Qiao, J. W., Cao, S., Petralia, F., Kawaler, E., Mundt, F., Krug, K., Tu, Z., Lei, J. T., Gatza, M. L., Wilkerson, M., Perou, C. M., Yellapantula, V., Huang,

K. L., Lin, C., McLellan, M. D., Yan, P., Davies, S. R., Townsend, R. R., Skates, S. J., Wang, J., Zhang, B., Kinsinger, C. R., Mesri, M., Rodriguez, H., Ding, L., Paulovich, A. G., Fenyo, D., Ellis, M. J., Carr, S. A., & Nci, C. (2016, Jun 2). Proteogenomics connects somatic mutations to signalling in breast cancer. *Nature*, *534*(7605), 55-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature18003</u>

- Mintz, M. A., Felce, J. H., Chou, M. Y., Mayya, V., Xu, Y., Shui, J.-W., An, J., Li, Z., Marson, A., & Okada, T. (2019). The HVEM-BTLA axis restrains T cell help to germinal center B cells and functions as a cell-extrinsic suppressor in lymphomagenesis. *Immunity*, 51(2), 310-323. e317. <u>https://www.cell.com/immunity/pdf/S1074-7613(19)30242-0.pdf</u>
- Miyagaki, T., Sugaya, M., Suga, H., Ohmatsu, H., Fujita, H., Asano, Y., Tada, Y., Kadono, T., & Sato, S. (2013, Jul 6). Serum-soluble herpes virus entry mediator levels reflect disease severity and Th2 environment in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Acta Dermato-Venereologica*, 93(4), 465-467. <u>https://doi.org/10.2340/00015555-1523</u>
- Moo-Young, M. (2019). Comprehensive biotechnology. Elsevier.
- Morgan, A. A., & Rubenstein, E. (2013). Proline: the distribution, frequency, positioning, and common functional roles of proline and polyproline sequences in the human proteome. *PloS One*, 8(1), e53785. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053785</u>
- Murphy, K. M., Nelson, C. A., & Sedy, J. R. (2006, Sep). Balancing co-stimulation and inhibition with BTLA and HVEM. *Nature Reviews: Immunology*, 6(9), 671-681. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1917</u>
- Murphy, T. L., & Murphy, K. M. (2009). Slow down and survive: Enigmatic immunoregulation by BTLA and HVEM. Annual Review of Immunology, 28, 389-411.
- Nakano, H., Sakon, S., Koseki, H., Takemori, T., Tada, K., Matsumoto, M., Munechika, E., Sakai, T., Shirasawa, T., Akiba, H., Kobata, T., Santee, S. M., Ware, C. F., Rennert, P. D., Taniguchi, M., Yagita, H., & Okumura, K. (1999, Aug 17). Targeted disruption of Traf5 gene causes defects in CD40- and CD27-mediated lymphocyte activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *96*(17), 9803-9808. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.17.9803
- Ni, C. Z., Welsh, K., Leo, E., Chiou, C. K., Wu, H., Reed, J. C., & Ely, K. R. (2000, Sep 12). Molecular basis for CD40 signaling mediated by TRAF3. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(19), 10395-10399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.97.19.10395</u>

- Ning, Z., Liu, K., & Xiong, H. (2021). Roles of BTLA in Immunity and Immune Disorders. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 12, 654960. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.654960</u>
- Nunoya, J. I., Masuda, M., Ye, C., & Su, L. (2019, Sep 27). Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cell Bearing Herpes Virus Entry Mediator Co-stimulatory Signal Domain Exhibits High Functional Potency. *Mol Ther Oncolytics*, 14, 27-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.omto.2019.03.002</u>
- Park, H. H. (2018). Structure of TRAF Family: Current Understanding of Receptor Recognition. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9, 1999. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01999</u>
- Pasero, C., & Olive, D. (2013). Interfering with coinhibitory molecules: BTLA/HVEM as new targets to enhance anti-tumor immunity. *Immunology Letters*, 151(1-2), 71-75.
- Pasero, C., Speiser, D. E., Derre, L., & Olive, D. (2012, Aug). The HVEM network: new directions in targeting novel costimulatory/co-inhibitory molecules for cancer therapy. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*, 12(4), 478-485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2012.03.001</u>
- Philipson, B. I., O'Connor, R. S., May, M. J., June, C. H., Albelda, S. M., & Milone, M. C. (2020). 4-1BB costimulation promotes CAR T cell survival through noncanonical NF-κB signaling. *Science signaling*, 13(625), eaay8248.
- Pullen, S. S., Dang, T. T., Crute, J. J., & Kehry, M. R. (1999). CD40 signaling through tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factors (TRAFs): binding site specificity and activation of downstream pathways by distinct TRAFs. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(20), 14246-14254.
- Ranuncolo, S. M., Pittaluga, S., Evbuomwan, M. O., Jaffe, E. S., & Lewis, B. A. (2012, Nov 1). Hodgkin lymphoma requires stabilized NIK and constitutive RelB expression for survival. *Blood*, *120*(18), 3756-3763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-01-405951</u>
- Reboursiere, E., Gac, A. C., Garnier, A., Salaun, V., Reman, O., Pham, A. D., Cabrera, Q., Khoy, K., Vilque, J. P., Fruchart, C., Chantepie, S., Johnson-Ansah, H., Macro, M., Cheze, S., Benabed, K., Mear, J. B., Troussard, X., Damaj, G., Le Mauff, B., & Toutirais, O. (2018, Jan). Increased frequencies of circulating and tumor-resident Vdelta1(+) T cells in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Leuk Lymphoma*, *59*(1), 187-195. https://doi.org/10.1080/10428194.2017.1321751
- Reddy, M., Eirikis, E., Davis, C., Davis, H. M., & Prabhakar, U. (2004, Oct). Comparative analysis of lymphocyte activation marker expression and cytokine secretion profile in stimulated human peripheral blood mononuclear cell cultures:

an in vitro model to monitor cellular immune function. *Journal of Immunological Methods*, 293(1-2), 127-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2004.07.006</u>

- Ritthipichai, K., Haymaker, C. L., Martinez, M., Aschenbrenner, A., Yi, X., Zhang, M., Kale, C., Vence, L. M., Roszik, J., & Hailemichael, Y. (2017). Multifaceted Role of BTLA in the Control of CD8+ T-cell Fate after Antigen EncounterBTLA Promotes CD8+ T-cell Survival. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 23(20), 6151-6164.
- Rosenberg, S. A., Lotze, M. T., Yang, J. C., Aebersold, P. M., Linehan, W. M., Seipp, C. A., & White, D. E. (1989). Experience with the use of high-dose interleukin-2 in the treatment of 652 cancer patients. *Annals of Surgery*, 210(4), 474.
- Rosenburg, S. (1987). A progress report on the treatment of 157 patients with advanced cancer using lymphokine activated killer cells and interleukin-2 or high dose interleukin-2 alone. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *316*, 889-897.
- Sadelain, M. (2017, Dec 14). CD19 CAR T Cells. *Cell*, 171(7), 1471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.12.002
- Saez-Ibanez, A. R., Upadhaya, S., Partridge, T., Shah, M., Correa, D., & Campbell, J. (2022, Jun 1). Landscape of cancer cell therapies: trends and real-world data. *Nature Reviews: Drug Discovery*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/d41573-022-00095-1</u>
- Sakoda, Y., Nagai, T., Murata, S., Mizuno, Y., Kurosawa, H., Shoda, H., Morishige, N., Yanai, R., Sonoda, K. H., & Tamada, K. (2016, Apr 1). Pathogenic Function of Herpesvirus Entry Mediator in Experimental Autoimmune Uveitis by Induction of Th1- and Th17-Type T Cell Responses. *Journal of Immunology*, 196(7), 2947-2954. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1501742
- Sakuma, T., Barry, M. A., & Ikeda, Y. (2012, May 1). Lentiviral vectors: basic to translational. *Biochemical Journal*, 443(3), 603-618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20120146</u>
- Schwartz, R. H. (1992). Costimulation of T lymphocytes: the role of CD28, CTLA-4, and B7/BB1 in interleukin-2 production and immunotherapy. *Cell*, *71*(7), 1065-1068.
- Schweppe, D. K., Rigas, J. R., & Gerber, S. A. (2013, Oct 8). Quantitative phosphoproteomic profiling of human non-small cell lung cancer tumors. *Journal* of Proteomics, 91, 286-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jprot.2013.07.023</u>
- Sedy, J. R., Gavrieli, M., Potter, K. G., Hurchla, M. A., Lindsley, R. C., Hildner, K., Scheu, S., Pfeffer, K., Ware, C. F., & Murphy, T. L. (2005). B and T lymphocyte attenuator regulates T cell activation through interaction with herpesvirus entry mediator. *Nature Immunology*, 6(1), 90-98. https://www.nature.com/articles/ni1144

- Shahinian, A., Pfeffer, K., Lee, K. P., Kundig, T. M., Kishihara, K., Wakeham, A., Kawai, K., Ohashi, P. S., Thompson, C. B., & Mak, T. W. (1993, Jul 30). Differential T cell costimulatory requirements in CD28-deficient mice. *Science*, 261(5121), 609-612. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7688139</u>
- Shinkura, R., Kitada, K., Matsuda, F., Tashiro, K., Ikuta, K., Suzuki, M., Kogishi, K., Serikawa, T., & Honjo, T. (1999). Alymphoplasia is caused by a point mutation in the mouse gene encoding NF-κB-inducing kinase. *Nature Genetics*, 22(1), 74-77.
- Shui, J. W., Steinberg, M. W., & Kronenberg, M. (2011, Apr). Regulation of inflammation, autoimmunity, and infection immunity by HVEM-BTLA signaling. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 89(4), 517-523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0910528</u>
- Sica, G., & Chen, L. (1999). Biochemical and immunological characteristics of 4-1BB (CD137) receptor and ligand and potential applications in cancer therapy. *Archivum Immunologiae et Therapiae Experimentalis*, 47(5), 275-279. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10604232
- So, T., Nagashima, H., & Ishii, N. (2015, Jun). TNF Receptor-Associated Factor (TRAF) Signaling Network in CD4(+) T-Lymphocytes. *Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 236(2), 139-154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.236.139</u>
- Sommermeyer, D., Hudecek, M., Kosasih, P. L., Gogishvili, T., Maloney, D. G., Turtle, C. J., & Riddell, S. R. (2016, Feb). Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells derived from defined CD8+ and CD4+ subsets confer superior antitumor reactivity in vivo. *Leukemia*, 30(2), 492-500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2015.247</u>
- Song, H. Y., Régnier, C. H., Kirschning, C. J., Goeddel, D. V., & Rothe, M. (1997). Tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-mediated kinase cascades: bifurcation of nuclear factor-κB and c-jun N-terminal kinase (JNK/SAPK) pathways at TNF receptorassociated factor 2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 94(18), 9792-9796.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC23270/pdf/pq009792.pdf

- Sorobetea, D., & Brodsky, I. E. (2018, Aug 8). HVEM LIGHTs the Way for ILC3s. *Cell Host & Microbe*, 24(2), 187-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2018.07.010</u>
- Stringer, D. K., & Piper, R. C. (2011, Sep 15). Terminating protein ubiquitination: Hasta la vista, ubiquitin. *Cell Cycle*, 10(18), 3067-3071. <u>https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.10.18.17191</u>
- Su, L. (2020). Chimeric Antigen Receptor Constructs And Their Use In CAR-T Cells (WO Patent No. WO 2020/219843 A1). <u>https://lens.org/040-180-234-309-126</u>

- Sun, S. C. (2017, Sep). The non-canonical NF-kappaB pathway in immunity and inflammation. *Nature Reviews: Immunology*, 17(9), 545-558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.52</u>
- Tang, X. Y., Sun, Y., Zhang, A., Hu, G. L., Cao, W., Wang, D. H., Zhang, B., & Chen, H. (2016, Dec 30). Third-generation CD28/4-1BB chimeric antigen receptor T cells for chemotherapy relapsed or refractory acute lymphoblastic leukaemia: a non-randomised, open-label phase I trial protocol. *BMJ Open*, 6(12), e013904. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013904
- Taraban, V. Y., Rowley, T. F., O'Brien, L., Chan, H. C., Haswell, L. E., Green, M. H., Tutt, A. L., Glennie, M. J., & Al-Shamkhani, A. (2002). Expression and costimulatory effects of the TNF receptor superfamily members CD134 (OX40) and CD137 (4-1BB), and their role in the generation of anti-tumor immune responses. *European Journal of Immunology*, 32(12), 3617-3627.
- Team, R. C. (2013). R: A language and environment for statistical computing.
- Todd, M. J., & Yıldırım, E. A. (2007). On Khachiyan's algorithm for the computation of minimum-volume enclosing ellipsoids. *Discrete Applied Mathematics*, 155(13), 1731-1744.
- Vallabhapurapu, S., Matsuzawa, A., Zhang, W., Tseng, P.-H., Keats, J. J., Wang, H., Vignali, D. A., Bergsagel, P. L., & Karin, M. (2008). Nonredundant and complementary functions of TRAF2 and TRAF3 in a ubiquitination cascade that activates NIK-dependent alternative NF-κB signaling. *Nature Immunology*, *9*(12), 1364-1370.
- Vallabhapurapu, S. D., Noothi, S. K., Pullum, D. A., Lawrie, C. H., Pallapati, R., Potluri, V., Kuntzen, C., Khan, S., Plas, D. R., Orlowski, R. Z., Chesi, M., Kuehl, W. M., Bergsagel, P. L., Karin, M., & Vallabhapurapu, S. (2015, Oct 12). Transcriptional repression by the HDAC4-RelB-p52 complex regulates multiple myeloma survival and growth. *Nat Commun*, 6(1), 8428. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms9428
- van der Stegen, S. J., Hamieh, M., & Sadelain, M. (2015, Jul). The pharmacology of second-generation chimeric antigen receptors. *Nature Reviews: Drug Discovery*, 14(7), 499-509. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4597</u>
- Villanueva, J. E., Malle, E. K., Gardam, S., Silveira, P. A., Zammit, N. W., Walters, S. N., Brink, R., & Grey, S. T. (2015, Jun). TRAF2 regulates peripheral CD8(+) T-cell and NKT-cell homeostasis by modulating sensitivity to IL-15. *European Journal of Immunology*, 45(6), 1820-1831. https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.201445416
- Villanueva, J. E., Walters, S. N., Saito, M., Malle, E. K., Zammit, N. W., Watson, K. A., Brink, R., La Gruta, N. L., Alexander, S. I., & Grey, S. T. (2017, Apr). Targeted

deletion of Traf2 allows immunosuppression-free islet allograft survival in mice. *Diabetologia*, 60(4), 679-689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-016-4198-7</u>

- Vinay, D. S., & Kwon, B. S. (1998). Role of 4-1BB in immune responses. Seminars in Immunology,
- Viola, A., & Lanzavecchia, A. (1996, Jul 5). T cell activation determined by T cell receptor number and tunable thresholds. *Science*, 273(5271), 104-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.273.5271.104</u>
- Vitagliano, L., Berisio, R., Mastrangelo, A., Mazzarella, L., & Zagari, A. (2001, Dec). Preferred proline puckerings in cis and trans peptide groups: implications for collagen stability. *Protein Science*, 10(12), 2627-2632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1110/ps.ps.26601a</u>
- Wajant, H., Henkler, F., & Scheurich, P. (2001). The TNF-receptor-associated factor family: scaffold molecules for cytokine receptors, kinases and their regulators. *Cellular Signalling*, 13(6), 389-400. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0898656801001607?via%</u> <u>3Dihub</u>
- Wallis, A. M., & Bishop, G. A. (2018, Jan 17). TRAF3 regulation of inhibitory signaling pathways in B and T lymphocytes by kinase and phosphatase localization. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 103(6), 1089-1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/JLB.2MIR0817-339RR</u>
- Wallis, A. M., Wallace, E. C., Hostager, B. S., Yi, Z., Houtman, J. C. D., & Bishop, G. A. (2017, May 18). TRAF3 enhances TCR signaling by regulating the inhibitors Csk and PTPN22. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 2081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-02280-4</u>
- Walsh, M. C., Lee, J., & Choi, Y. (2015). Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF 6) regulation of development, function, and homeostasis of the immune system. *Immunological Reviews*, 266(1), 72-92. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4799835/pdf/nihms-765756.pdf
- Wang, X., Xu, Z., Tian, Z., Zhang, X., Xu, D., Li, Q., Zhang, J., & Wang, T. (2017, Nov). The EF-1alpha promoter maintains high-level transgene expression from episomal vectors in transfected CHO-K1 cells. *J Cell Mol Med*, 21(11), 3044-3054. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcmm.13216</u>
- Weinkove, R., George, P., Dasyam, N., & McLellan, A. D. (2019). Selecting costimulatory domains for chimeric antigen receptors: functional and clinical considerations. *Clin Transl Immunology*, 8(5), e1049. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cti2.1049</u>

- Wharry, C. E., Haines, K. M., Carroll, R. G., & May, M. J. (2009). Constitutive noncanonical NFkB signaling in pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 8(16), 1567-1576.
- Wherry, E. J., & Kurachi, M. (2015, Aug). Molecular and cellular insights into T cell exhaustion. *Nature Reviews: Immunology*, 15(8), 486-499. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3862</u>
- Wherry, E. J., Teichgraber, V., Becker, T. C., Masopust, D., Kaech, S. M., Antia, R., von Andrian, U. H., & Ahmed, R. (2003, Mar). Lineage relationship and protective immunity of memory CD8 T cell subsets. *Nature Immunology*, 4(3), 225-234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ni889</u>
- Wickham, H., Chang, W., & Wickham, M. H. (2016). Package 'ggplot2'. Create elegant data visualisations using the grammar of graphics. Version, 2(1), 1-189.
- Willmann, K. L., Klaver, S., Dogu, F., Santos-Valente, E., Garncarz, W., Bilic, I., Mace, E., Salzer, E., Conde, C. D., Sic, H., Majek, P., Banerjee, P. P., Vladimer, G. I., Haskologlu, S., Bolkent, M. G., Kupesiz, A., Condino-Neto, A., Colinge, J., Superti-Furga, G., Pickl, W. F., van Zelm, M. C., Eibel, H., Orange, J. S., Ikinciogullari, A., & Boztug, K. (2014, Nov 19). Biallelic loss-of-function mutation in NIK causes a primary immunodeficiency with multifaceted aberrant lymphoid immunity. *Nat Commun*, *5*(1), 5360. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6360
- Wu, H. (2007). TNF receptor associated factors (TRAFs). Springer Science+Business Media Landes Bioscience.
- Xie, P. (2013). TRAF molecules in cell signaling and in human diseases. *Journal of Molecular Signaling*, 8(1), 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-2187-8-7</u>
- Xie, P., Hostager, B. S., Munroe, M. E., Moore, C. R., & Bishop, G. A. (2006). Cooperation between TNF receptor-associated factors 1 and 2 in CD40 signaling. *The Journal of Immunology*, 176(9), 5388-5400.
- Xie, P., Kraus, Z. J., Stunz, L. L., Liu, Y., & Bishop, G. A. (2011). TNF receptorassociated factor 3 is required for T cell-mediated immunity and TCR/CD28 signaling. *The Journal of Immunology*, 186(1), 143-155. <u>https://www.jimmunol.org/content/jimmunol/186/1/143.full.pdf</u>
- Xie, P., Stunz, L. L., Larison, K. D., Yang, B., & Bishop, G. A. Expected trial completion in 2007. TRAF3 is a critical regulator of B cell homeostasis in secondary lymphoid organs (86.2) (Clinicaltrials.gov Identifier Retrieved from
- Xiu, Y., Xu, H., Zhao, C., Li, J., Morita, Y., Yao, Z., Xing, L., & Boyce, B. F. (2014, Jan). Chloroquine reduces osteoclastogenesis in murine osteoporosis by

preventing TRAF3 degradation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 124(1), 297-310. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI66947

- Xu, X., Hou, B., Fulzele, A., Masubuchi, T., Zhao, Y., Wu, Z., Hu, Y., Jiang, Y., Ma, Y., & Wang, H. (2020). PD-1 and BTLA regulate T cell signaling differentially and only partially through SHP1 and SHP2. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *219*(6).
- Yamada, H., Martin, P. J., Bean, M. A., Braun, M. P., Beatty, P. G., Sadamoto, K., & Hansen, J. A. (1985, Dec). Monoclonal antibody 9.3 and anti-CD11 antibodies define reciprocal subsets of lymphocytes. *European Journal of Immunology*, 15(12), 1164-1168. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.1830151204</u>
- Yamamoto, H., Kishimoto, T., & Minamoto, S. (1998, Nov 1). NF-kappaB activation in CD27 signaling: involvement of TNF receptor-associated factors in its signaling and identification of functional region of CD27. *Journal of Immunology*, 161(9), 4753-4759. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9794406</u>
- Yang, C., McCoy, K., Davis, J. L., Schmidt-Supprian, M., Sasaki, Y., Faccio, R., & Novack, D. V. (2010, Nov 8). NIK stabilization in osteoclasts results in osteoporosis and enhanced inflammatory osteolysis. *PloS One*, 5(11), e15383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015383</u>
- Yang, X. D., & Sun, S. C. (2015, Jul). Targeting signaling factors for degradation, an emerging mechanism for TRAF functions. *Immunological Reviews*, 266(1), 56-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/imr.12311</u>
- Ye, H., Park, Y. C., Kreishman, M., Kieff, E., & Wu, H. (1999, Sep). The structural basis for the recognition of diverse receptor sequences by TRAF2. *Molecular Cell*, 4(3), 321-330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1097-2765(00)80334-2</u>
- Yi, Z., Lin, W. W., Stunz, L. L., & Bishop, G. A. (2014, Sep). The adaptor TRAF3 restrains the lineage determination of thymic regulatory T cells by modulating signaling via the receptor for IL-2. *Nature Immunology*, 15(9), 866-874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.2944</u>
- Yi, Z., Stunz, L. L., & Bishop, G. A. (2013, Jun 3). TNF receptor associated factor 3 plays a key role in development and function of invariant natural killer T cells. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 210(6), 1079-1086. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20122135
- Yi, Z., Stunz, L. L., Lin, W. W., & Bishop, G. A. (2014). TRAF3 regulates homeostasis of CD8+ central memory T cells. *PloS One*, 9(7), e102120. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102120</u>
- Yi, Z., Wallis, A. M., & Bishop, G. A. (2015). Roles of TRAF3 in T cells: many surprises. *Cell Cycle*, 14(8), 1156-1163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15384101.2015.1021524</u>

- Zapata, J. M. (2003). TNF-receptor-associated factors as targets for drug development. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, 7(3), 411-425. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1517/14728222.7.3.411
- Zapata, J. M., Perez-Chacon, G., Carr-Baena, P., Martinez-Forero, I., Azpilikueta, A., Otano, I., & Melero, I. (2018). CD137 (4-1BB) signalosome: complexity is a matter of TRAFs. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 9, 2618. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6262405/pdf/fimmu-09-02618.pdf</u>
- Zarnegar, B. J., Wang, Y., Mahoney, D. J., Dempsey, P. W., Cheung, H. H., He, J., Shiba, T., Yang, X., Yeh, W. C., Mak, T. W., Korneluk, R. G., & Cheng, G. (2008, Dec). Noncanonical NF-kappaB activation requires coordinated assembly of a regulatory complex of the adaptors cIAP1, cIAP2, TRAF2 and TRAF3 and the kinase NIK. *Nature Immunology*, 9(12), 1371-1378. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1676
- Zhang, J., Baran, J., Cros, A., Guberman, J. M., Haider, S., Hsu, J., Liang, Y., Rivkin, E., Wang, J., Whitty, B., Wong-Erasmus, M., Yao, L., & Kasprzyk, A. (2011). International Cancer Genome Consortium Data Portal--a one-stop shop for cancer genomics data. *Database: The Journal of Biological Databases and Curation*, 2011, bar026. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/database/bar026</u>
- Zotti, T., Scudiero, I., Vito, P., & Stilo, R. (2017, Jun). The Emerging Role of TRAF7 in Tumor Development. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 232(6), 1233-1238. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25676</u>

Appendix

Definition of Terms

- "4-IBB" or "CD137": Molecule of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily expressed primarily in activated T cells.
- "Adoptive T-cell transfer": Adoptive T cell transfer involves the isolation and reinfusion of T-cells into patients to treat disease.
- "Antigen-presenting cells (APCs)": Cells that display antigen complexes with major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) on their surfaces
- "AP-1": Activator protein-1
- "BLTA": An inhibitory coreceptor of the B cell receptor (BCR) signaling pathway that attenuates the activation of HVEM-recognized B cells.
- "CD-160": Cell surface receptor expressed in NK cells, CD8+ T cells,
- "CD-19": A biomarker for normal and neoplastic B cells. CD19 establishes intrinsic B cell signaling thresholds.
- "CD-28": Protein expressed on T cells that provide co-stimulatory signals required for T cell activation
- "CD3ζ" or "CD3 zeta": Part of the T cell receptor (TCR) TCR-CD3 complex, which is found on the surface of T-lymphocytes and plays an essential role in the adaptive immune response. TCR-mediated signals are conveyed across the cell membrane by CD3ζ when antigen-presenting cells activate TCR.

- "CD4+ T cells": A kind of T cell that assists other immune cells by detecting foreign antigens and secreting cytokines that activate T and B cells in the immunological response.
- "CD8+ T cells": Type of T cell that binds to other cells through MHC and induces the target cells to undergo programmed cell death.
- "Chemokines": A subfamily of cell signaling molecules or cytokines secreted by cells to induce chemotaxis in nearby cells.
- "Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR)": A recombinant receptor designed to bind to specific antigens in cancer cells and activate downstream signaling that leads to CAR-T cell activation.
- "Construct": Recombinant domain encoding a specific CAR.
- "Co-stimulatory domain": Specific physical region or amino acid sequence in a protein associated with the co-stimulatory signal required for full CAR-T cell activation.
- "CRD": Cysteine-rich domain
- "Cytokine release syndrome (CRS)": an adverse effect that may occur after immunotherapy treatment caused by a significant and rapid release of cytokines (small signaling molecules) into the blood, causing an immune reaction.
- "HVEM", "CD270" or "TNFRSF14": Herpesvirus entry mediator, TNFRSF14, CD270
- "ICOS": Inducible T cell co-stimulator structurally and functionally related to CD28

- "Lentiviral vector": A modified lentivirus used in genetic engineering to deliver genetic material into a host cell, but it cannot proliferate and cause disease in the host.
- "LIGHT": Secreted protein of the TNF superfamily recognized by HVEM
- "M83": 83 Amino-Acid HVEM cytoplasmic domain
- "MHC": Major histocompatibility complex
- "NF-κB ": Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
- "Single-chain variable fragment (scFv)": Fusion proteins of the variable regions of the heavy and light chains of an antibody (VH and VL) connected with a shortlinker peptide of 10 to 25 amino acids
- "TNF": Tumor necrosis factor, TNFSF2
- "cIAPs": Cellular inhibitors of apoptosis proteins are critical arbiters of cell death and essential mediators of inflammation and innate immunity.
- "GITR": Glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein
- "LTα": Lymphotoxin α recognized by HVEM
- "LTβR": Lymphotoxin-β receptor, TNFRSF3
- "NFAT": Nuclear factor of activated T cell
- "NIK": NF-κB inducing kinase
- "RING": Really Interesting New Gene. Part of the TRAF
- "TANK": Modulator of TRAF signaling that serves as an enhancer or inhibitor of TRAF-mediated signaling pathways.
- "TCR": T cell receptor is a protein complex found on the surface of T cells that is responsible for recognizing antigen fragments as peptides bound to major histocompatibility complex molecules.
- "TLR2": Toll/interleukin-1 receptor domain of Toll-like receptor 2)
- "TNFR": Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor
- "TNFR-SF": TNFR superfamily
- "TRAF": TNFR-associated factor. A family of conserved intracellular adapter molecules containing a C-terminal domain that interacts with the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily and an N-terminal domain that links receptors to downstream signaling events such as cell survival by activating downstream protein kinase cascades like NF-κB.
- "T-Traf3-/- mice": TRAF3 (CD4+^{Cre}Traf3^{flox/flox},) mice conditionally deficient in the indicated TRAF molecule in T cells